

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-1-2021

African American Entrepreneurial Business- Sustaining Strategies

Charles C. Johnson, III Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Entrepreneurial and Small Business Operations Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Charles C. Johnson, III

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Jaime Klein, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Janet Booker, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty
Dr. Kim Critchlow, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

African American Entrepreneurial Business- Sustaining Strategies

by

Charles C. Johnson, III

MS, Bowie State University, 2014

BS, Morgan State University, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

More than 80% of small consulting businesses fail within the first five years of operation. Small consulting company owners are concerned with failing within the first five years because community economic development can be adversely impacted. Grounded in the resource-based view theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies African American consulting company owners use for longevity beyond five years. The participants comprised African American owners of three consulting businesses located in the northeast region of the United States, who successfully sustained their business beyond five years. Data collection included semistructured interviews with consulting company owners and the reviewing of company documents. The data analysis process involved Yin's 5-step thematic approach and resulted in three themes: embracing entrepreneurship mindset, fostering creativity for innovation, and capitalizing on a specialty. A key recommendation includes conducting feasibility screening and then designing and using a strategy canvas to identify opportunities. The implications for positive social change have the potential for small business leaders to provide employment opportunities.

African American Entrepreneurial Business- Sustaining Strategies

by

Charles C. Johnson, III

MS, Bowie State University, 2014

BS, Morgan State University, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this to my Lord and Savior who has given me strength to endure life and this journey. I'd like to also dedicate this case study to my father, Mr. Charles C. Johnson, Jr., who I've strived to be like and make proud since I was young. Even though you are no longer with us, I feel your spirit. I hope I've made you proud.

Acknowledgments

I want to honor and thank God for the blessings to my family and me. Special thanks to my first chair, Dr. Jaime Klein, second chair, Dr. Janet Booker, and URR, Dr. Kim Critchlow, for guiding me throughout this journey. I will be forever indebted to you all for assisting and getting me through this doctoral process. I thought pursuing a doctoral degree was not attainable. And now, to think I will be the first person in my family to become a doctoral graduate is unbelievable. I want to thank my identical triplet brother James D. Johnson and my fraternity brother Dr. Jesse E. Moore Jr., Allen Buckner, Tayanna Crowder, and Myron Allen for supporting me throughout this process. I would also like to thank the entire staff, instructors, and faculty at Walden University. In addition, I would also like to thank Dr. Ralph A. Heath, III, Dr. Thiquita Ward, Dr. Chawana Anderson, and anyone else who has had a hand in helping me accomplish this unbelievable goal.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	6
	Significance of the Study	7
	Contribution to Business Practice	7
	Implications for Social Change	7
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	7
	Resource-Based Theory	8
	Transaction Cost Theory	. 10
	Strategy Formulation	. 11
	Small Business	. 23

Types of Business Ownership	26
Business Financing	27
Business Leadership	30
Innovation	32
Transition	33
Section 2: The Project	34
Purpose Statement	34
Role of the Researcher	34
Participants	36
Research Method and Design	37
Research Method	37
Research Design	39
Population and Sampling	40
Ethical Research	41
Data Collection Instruments	42
Data Collection Technique	43
Data Organization Technique	45
Data Analysis	45
Reliability and Validity	47
Reliability	47
Validity	47
Transition and Summary	18

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	50
Introduction	50
Presentation of the Findings	50
Theme 1: Embracing Entrepreneurial Mindset	50
Theme 2: Fostering Creativity for Innovation	57
Theme 3: Capitalizing on Specialty	62
Applications to Professional Practice	67
Implications for Social Change	69
Recommendations for Action	70
Recommendations for Further Research	71
Reflections	72
Conclusion	73
References	75
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	113
Appendix B: Letter of Invitation	114
Appendix C: Certificate of Completion. National Institutes of Health	115

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses are the backbone of the U.S. economy. Small businesses constitute over 90% of all employers and over 60% of new private-sector jobs (Dilger, 2017). Within 10 years of operation, only one third of small businesses survive in the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2017). Small businesses are susceptible to economic turbulence because of limited access to resources (Jogaratnam, 2017). Small business leaders in the consulting sector need innovative strategies to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation.

Background of the Problem

More than 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of business inception (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2017). In a business environment, many uncertainties exist, and business leaders need help from consultants who are professionals in their field to improve business performance. However, many management consulting businesses that many small business owners depend on struggle to survive. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017), more than 80% of consulting businesses fail within 5 years of operation. Consulting businesses could fail for many reasons including lack of techniques and methodologies, poor communication, project focus rather than client focus, no brand name, and lack of networking (Andrew, 2017). The management consulting industry has received little attention among academic scholars because of being fragmented and less regulated (Srinivasan, 2014). The objective of the current study was to improve business practice by exploring strategies some successful consulting companies use to survive beyond 5 years of operation.

Problem and Purpose

U.S. small businesses fail within the first 5 years of inception (Scott & Pressman, 2017). More than 80% of small consulting businesses fail within the first 5 years of operation (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2017). The general business problem was that some small business owners fail to develop innovative strategies to sustain business continuity. The specific business problem was that some African American small consulting company owners lack innovative strategies to maintain business beyond 5 years.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners use for longevity beyond 5 years. The target population comprised African American owners of three consulting businesses located in the Northeast region of the United States who had successfully sustained their businesses beyond 5 years. The implications for social change included business success generating tax income to local governments, which government officials could use to improve public safety, affordable housing, and public schools, benefiting people in the community.

Population and Sampling

The target population comprised owners of African American consulting businesses located in the Northeast region of the United States. I identified participants from public lists and business consulting company directories within the United States. Purposeful sampling resulted in three participants who had successfully sustained their businesses beyond 5 years. The data sources included

semistructured interview transcripts and company documents supplied by the participants.

Nature of the Study

Three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. A qualitative method consists of asking *how* and *why* questions to extract rich data from the participants (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Qualitative methodology was appropriate for this study because I sought answers to the central research question by conducting semistructured interviews composed of *how* and *why* questions. A quantitative researcher examines and quantifies variables' relationships to test hypotheses about phenomena (Bray & Williams, 2017). Mixed-methods researchers blend quantitative and qualitative methods (Munce & Archibald, 2016). In the current study, I did not test a hypothesis, so a quantitative approach was not suitable. A mixed-methods approach was not appropriate because of the absence of a quantitative method.

A qualitative researcher can choose from case study design, phenomenological design, ethnographic design, and narrative design under the qualitative method. I chose a multiple case study design to conduct a detailed exploration of a phenomenon established within its environmental setting during a specific period. Case study researchers explore the human experiences within a specific setting (Holtzhausen & Naidoo, 2016). In contrast, researchers employ an ethnographic design to explore groups' philosophies and become a part of a culture that the researcher explores (Cardoso et al., 2017). As the researcher, I excluded the ethnographic design, which requires a profound comprehension of a specified culture. In a phenomenological design, a researcher tries to comprehend

people's views, perceptions, and tolerances of a specific condition or phenomenon (Katsirikou & Lin, 2017). I was not exploring participants' lived experiences of a phenomenon, and therefore a phenomenological design was not appropriate. Using the narrative design, a researcher concentrates and utilizes participants' descriptive storytelling (Smit, 2017). A narrative research design was not suitable because I did not collect data in a storytelling format.

Research Question

What innovative strategies do African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years?

Interview Questions

- 1. What innovative strategies did you implement for business longevity beyond 5 years?
- 2. What challenges did you experience in implementing innovative strategies to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation?
- 3. How did you address the challenges you experienced while implementing innovative strategies?
- 4. What innovative strategies have not worked and how have you changed them to be more effective?
- 5. How do you assess the effectiveness of innovative strategies in sustaining business beyond 5 years of operation?
- 6. What additional information would you like to provide about strategies in sustaining business beyond 5 years of operation?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of this study included the resource-based theory (RBT). Barney (2001) developed RBT to support the notion that strategic resources' knowledge and possession could provide a business with a competitive advantage over opposing markets. RBT's key constructs are that the firms' ability to acquire and manage rare, valuable, and nonsubstitutable resources could result in business success. RBT theorists embody planned choice, charging the business management with the significant responsibilities of classifying, procuring, and organizing essential resources to take full advantage of potential returns from unique resources (Hitt et al., 2016). RBT was a suitable conceptual framework for the current study because RBT's key constructs provided a lens for foreseeing and utilizing businesses' resources for business continuity.

Operational Definitions

Angel investor: An angel investor is an individual who finances a business endeavor, offering wealth for start-up or growth (Edelman et al., 2017).

Consulting company: A consulting company is a business of one or multiple specialists (consultants) who offer professional guidance to an individual or company for a fee (Hvala et al., 2017).

Corporate venture capital: Corporate venture capital is equity financing by a reputable business in an entrepreneurial venture (Wadhwa et al., 2016).

Equity financing: Equity financing pertains to the process of raising new investments by retailing shares of the business to the public, organized investors, or financial organizations (Yu & Wang, 2016).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

According to Wolgemuth et al. (2017), assumptions are viewpoints the researcher believes to be true. The current study included several assumptions. The first assumption was that consulting companies' leaders would be qualified and knowledgeable regarding the study phenomenon. My second assumption was that participants would provide honest answers to interview questions. The third assumption was that the secondary documents provided by participants would relate to the study phenomenon.

Limitations

Limitations are the weaknesses or preconceptions of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first limitation was the short time limit of the study. The second limitation was potential bias in participants' responses. The third limitation was that participants' responses may not have produced sufficient information to support the study.

Delimitations

As it pertains to research, delimitations refer to limits by establishing the study's inclusion and exclusion criteria, which reduce the scope of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first delimitation was that the study included only African American consulting companies. The second delimitation was that the study included only business owners in the Northeast region of the United States. The third delimitation was the use of purposeful sampling.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Consulting company owners could use the results of this study to develop and deploy innovative strategies for businesses' longevity. Business owners could improve strategies in utilizing resources to improve business processes, respond to changes in economies, and remain competitive. Entrepreneurs could use this study's results to secure funding from government and financial institutions to sustain their business beyond 5 years of operation.

Implications for Social Change

The results of this study could contribute to small businesses' profitability through the development of innovative strategies. Profitable companies could become involved in societal roles that could improve the quality of life and balance the formation of social, financial, and environmental prosperity (Zahra & Wright, 2015). Profitable companies are likely to hire more employees to sustain growth, reduce financial stress among families, and improve their living standards.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

For this case study, I reviewed the literature to explore the strategies that African American consulting company owners use to obtain financial resources for business longevity beyond 5 years. I searched for the information in sources such as scholarly books, financial reports, and academic journals. The databases used to obtain literature for this study included ABI/INFORM Complete, ProQuest, Sage Premier, and Business Source Complete.

The strategy for searching through existing literature entailed the use of keywords in the various databases. During the search, I gave preference to articles published in or after 2016 to ensure the literature was relevant and topical. The keywords used in the literature review were human capital theory, resource-based theory, business ownership, financial literacy, and business knowledge. Additional keywords included business education, business literacy, types of business financing, changes in financial education, and access to financial resources over time. The literature review included 251 references, of which 176 (85%) were published within 5 years and 175 (85%) were peer reviewed.

I organized the literature review in five main topics, which included several subtopics. The first topics discussed are RBT and contrasting theory. The second topic consists of a discussion of strategy formulation. The third topic includes information regarding small consulting businesses. In the fourth topic, I discuss types of business ownership and business financing, and the fifth topic is business leadership and innovation.

Resource-Based Theory

Though small businesses are a significant contributor to the national economy, many fail because of a lack of resources. More than 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of business inception (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2017). Scholars claimed that RBT is significant for business growth and long-term business survival (Boon et al., 2018; Radzi et al., 2017). Leaders in consulting

business could maintain long-term business sustainability if they develop and diversify unique and rare resources that are difficult to replicate.

RBT has many business implications. Business leaders could use the tenets of RBT to formulate innovative strategies for their business's long-term sustainability (Bromiley & Rau, 2016). Innovative strategies result in financial sustainability (Dhir & Dhir, 2015). Business leaders utilize RBT while developing strategies to match business capabilities with financial resources (Mellahi et al., 2016). Aligning business capabilities with financial resources enables business leaders to enhance profitability and foster business continuity beyond 5 years of operation.

Business owners could use RBT to acquire financial resources. Financial struggle is common among small business owners (D. Miller & Le Breton-Miller, 2017).

Financial struggles refer to limited access to finances, inadequate business revenue, and cash flow. RBT is suitable to identify financial resources for overall business strategy development for business sustainability (Campbell & Park, 2017). According to RBT's tenets, business or firm owners use financial resources to achieve competitive advantage (Nason & Wiklund, 2015). According to RBT, proper utilization of financial resources enables business leaders to improve cash flow for business continuation and growth.

Chun-Lan (2015) used RBT to improve entrepreneurial aspiration for a successful financial future. Capitalization of financial resources could result in business growth resulting in long-term business sustainability (Huggins et al., 2017). Business leaders who leverage their resources and capabilities are likely to achieve superior financial freedom leading to business sustainability beyond 5 years of operation.

Transaction Cost Theory

Transaction cost theory is suitable in business practices in which leaders capitalize on resources by keeping the cost low. In the transaction cost theory model, business leaders could form strategic alliances to acquires additional resources (Lin, 2017). Business leaders may engage in the strategic alliance when the transaction cost associated with alliances is lower or when a great deal of ambiguity in the industry exists (Johanson & Mattsson, 2015). Some business leaders may form a strategic alliance to efficiently retrieve resources from other businesses rather than buy them (Johanson & Mattsson, 2015). Access to resources through strategic alliance could enable business leaders to optimize production, resulting in business profitably and long-term continuity.

The transaction cost model and RBT are similar but different. The most important difference between the RBT and transaction cost theory is that in RBT, leaders try to capitalize on their resources by combining resources; in transaction cost theory, business leaders try to lessen their transaction expenses through alliances (Kosaka et al., 2020). Scholars studied the two theories and found that the transaction cost theory and RBT are suitable to improve business economic sustainability (Gorovaia & Windsperger, 2018). The transaction cost model is applicable to businesses in similar industries (Yeh et al., 2018). RBT is valid for businesses in all sectors. RBT supports the notion that valuable resources are typically immobile and are rare, and leaders engage in strategic alliances to access those resources (Nason & Wiklund, 2015). Contrarily, the transaction cost model enables a leader to view business as a transaction, making the theory more applicable in businesses in which business leaders seek to minimize agency cost. Both the RBT and

transaction cost models are suitable for business leaders seeking access to resources to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation.

An organization leader's purpose is to maximize organizations' returns while reducing transaction costs. Under the transaction cost rationale, company leaders usually incur costs because of the guarantee they provide so that the service reaches the customers (Lubell et al., 2016). Business leaders view the partnership as a business resource and formulate strategic alliances to minimizing their transaction costs. Some similarities exist between the transaction cost reasoning and the RBT reasoning (Gorovaia & Windsperger, 2018). According to transaction cost reasoning, business leaders participate in strategic alliances to decrease their transaction costs (Lin, 2017), and RBT reasoning postulates strategic alliances as a resource. Both reasonings are valid because they result in business benefits leading to business longevity.

Strategy Formulation

Effective strategy formulation simplifies the process to achieve anticipated outcomes. A strategic plan provides employees with a distinct vision of business agendas. According to Koseoglu et al. (2020), strategy formulation is planning in which leaders hope to accomplish business objectives. The entrepreneurial leaders formulate strategies while considering available resources and competencies (Karami, 2016). Applying tenets of the RBT enables business leaders to strategize resource utilization over a specific period (Nason & Wiklund, 2015). Formulating and implementing an effective business strategy could result in business survival in a turbulent market.

A business leader needs to manage resources to be successful, and the management of resources requires developing a strategy that matches the business's goals. Clients' preferences are continuously changing, and business leaders must focus on capitalizing internal and external recourses (Corbett et al., 2018). According to RBT's prepositions, if the business leaders undermine resources, then production may get affected, leading to higher cost and deterioration in the quality of products. Strategies focusing on internal resources and business capabilities could increase market share (Sun et al., 2018). Strategies that combine business capabilities and resources result in a higher strategic position to remain profitable (Gutierrez-Gutierrez et al., 2018). A thriving business is likely to grow and maintain long-term sustainability.

Factors Contributing to Business Success

Marketing is essential for economic sustainability. Innovative marketing requires market analysis to ensure the resources are put to the right use. Small business leaders could promote goods and services and acquire customers through innovative marketing (Homburg et al., 2017; Miettinen & Stenbacka, 2018). The innovative marketing approach results in a competitive advantage against the competitors, which could prolong business continuity (Williams & Aaron, 2018). In the literature, scholars discussed various innovative approaches to improve business sustainability. Foley and O'Connor (2017) noted that business alliances are essential to access resources for business survival. Saleem (2017) stated the requirement for innovative strategies to manage business-related risks. Sales forecasting and planning improve the profitability of small businesses (Gupta, 2017). Makhmoor and Rajesh (2017) suggested that structuring

businesses with hierarchies of authority minimizes chaos. Tchamyou (2017) posited on risk management. Business leaders who comprehend customer behavior and market segment are likely to meet customer demands, resulting in an increased sale (Herlina et al., 2019). Knowledge in the business operating environment is essential for executing business activities for business continuity.

Employees' job-specific knowledge is a business resource. Leaders are responsible to improve employees' creativity and innovative capabilities (Amin et al., 2018). Gerrard and Locket (2018) stated that knowledgeable and experienced management teams are the primary determinant for business success. Tacit knowledge could improve organization performance leading to operational continuity (Ding et al., 2016). Harnessing employees' tacit knowledge in a consulting organization is imperative because such knowledge is a strategic resource.

Resource-Based View Business Strategies

Companies could use RBT in strategy formulation to attain a competitive advantage in an industry. According to Chuang and Lin (2017), RBT is useful for business leaders to look at a business landscape through resources. Resources can be both intangible and tangible. Securing fixed assets can be a tangible resource, and business leaders securing many tangible fixed assets could earn an advantage in the marketplace (Elia & Santangelo, 2017). Business partners are intangible resources. Proper utilization of tangible and intangible resources could result in greater return leading to business continuity.

Leaders view resources and capabilities as a basis for competitive advantage and business performance. Ferreira and Fernandes (2017) discovered that a business's ability to acquire resources and capabilities depends on precise resource-based goals. Some business leaders secure recourses to stay competitive with rival companies (Ferreira & Fernandes, 2017). Competitive advantage is having access to resources to offset competitors (González-Rodríguez et al., 2018). To endure a competitive advantage, a business leader needs to establish a better comparative or differential worth than opponents (Cantele & Zardini, 2018). If a business leader possesses a unique ability to secure loans, then the business has a viable competitive advantage, resulting in business longevity.

Aligning organizational resources with business capabilities received a large amount of awareness in planned management studies. Yang and Tsai (2019) posited that to function as a successful enterprise, a business's capacity needs to relate to its resources through cross-functional integration. Integration of scarce resources and capabilities could stop other companies from entering the industry because these businesses would not compete with the resources and capabilities not available to them (X. Li, 2018). Business leaders' capability for cross-functional integration of resources could provide competitive advantages to the business leading to long-term sustainability.

Business leaders need to create strategic alliances to acquire resources. According to Mellahi et al. (2016), access to rare resources could improve business productivity leading to sustainable business. According to Grant (2016), business leaders' ability to combine resources with their capabilities determines whether they can maintain a

competitive advantage. The business leaders need to consider resources and capabilities as the foundation for a competitive edge (Efrat et al., 2018). Utilization of resources to the extent of business capabilities enables a business to obtain revenue leading to long-term sustainability.

While developing strategies, a business leader needs to consider competitive surroundings by examining several factors (political, economic, sociocultural, technological, environmental, and legal). After examining these factors to remain competitive, business leaders need to do an analysis to identify internal strengths and weaknesses, seek opportunities, and identify threats (Minnis & Sutherland, 2016). Internal strengths and weaknesses are within the business's control. Business leaders need to utilize the resources available to capitalize on strengths and address weaknesses (T. M. Jones et al., 2018). While doing so, business leaders could access resources to enhance performance, improve productivity, and sustain beyond 5 years of operation.

Strategic Alliances. Strategic alliances enable business leaders to gather valuable resources, resulting in higher market advantage. A strategic alliance is an act in which two or more business leaders voluntarily agree to unite for a mutual goal to achieve a more significant advantage compared to competitors (Russo & Cesarani, 2017). Business leaders need to create a strategic alliance with other business leaders to utilize their resources to improve business performance and competitiveness (Dasgupta, 2018). With the advancements in technology, companies are going global and strategic alliances remained significant in gaining an advantage in the market (Zineldin & Ismail, 2017). Some scholars referred to business alliances as businesses coming together to collect

knowledge and resources (Fang et al., 2018). In the current study, RBT was appropriate to understand strategic alliances because business alliances are valuable resources to maintain business longevity.

Strategic alliances are increasing in the business world. However, the concept was underexplored by researchers in the literature (Gnyawali et al., 2016). A few researchers have explored business alliances' strategic advantages (Dunning, 2015; Gomes et al., 2015). Aggarwal (2020) stated that by simplifying the resource-based perspective of strategic alliances and originality, business leaders could add value to the business. Scholars proposed that business leaders need to consider partners' strengths besides relying on internal human capital to acquire knowledge in the business landscape (Tasavori et al., 2018). Gaining a competitive advantage by using strategic alliances could benefit a business in maintaining long-term survival.

In the business world, strategic alliances could bring additional partnerships improving business cash flow. The strategic alliance enables business leaders to discover value creation strategies with firm-specific assets (Hoskisson et al., 2018). Overseeing strategic alliances is an essential task of a business leader to gain and maintain a competitive advantage and simultaneously create value (Cirjevskis, 2019). Alliances could be a quick means of accessing outside resources to maintain business continuity.

International consulting firms are a resource and engaging in strategic partnerships with foreign firms could provide access to knowledgeable and experienced consultants. A global strategic alliance could reduce costs by hiring foreign consultants with subject matter expertise in their related fields. Russo and Cesarani (2018) stated that

companies' leaders utilize the transaction cost theory to develop strategic alliances. Lin (2017) indicated that business leaders generally form relationships by allowing the exchange of resources. For example, companies' leaders come together as a joint venture to combine resources to achieve a collective goal. Strategic alliances improve the flow of resources between parties involved for mutual benefit (Russo & Cesarani, 2017). Advanced technologies could be a useful resource to improve business alliances internationally (L. Li & Qian, 2018). The mutual benefit could be lower transaction costs, process efficiency, and improved productivity, directly correlating to business continuity.

Technology. Modern technology systems could be valuable resources for business. Modern technological systems could enable companies to remain productive (Ferreira & Fernandes, 2017). Development and implementation of modern technology allow business leaders to improve performance and become profitable through added sales (Mohr & Batsakis, 2018). Business leaders use technological tools as recourses to sustain in the market (Cembrero & Sáenz, 2018). Progressive technologies are business resources that could enable a company to sustain while maintaining a much superior strategic position when matched to its rivals (Bilkova et al., 2018). Hitt et al. (2016) found that some business leaders who transition to the international market viewed modern technology as a useful resource and, therefore, invested in technology as part of the global expansion strategy. While integrating progressive technologies, business literacy in technology could result in seamless integration without hassles (Iramani et al., 2018). Integrating modern technologies could help business leaders to meet a specific goal, which could be business long term continuity.

Human Capital. Human capital is an essential resource that business leaders could utilize to meet business objectives. A business leaders' ability to connect talent to job results in a core competency. Core competencies of business generally make up its resource (Eggert et al., 2018). Goffee and Scase (2016) noted human capital as a valuable resource that require continuous development to maintain business productivity and long-term sustainability. Employees' specific skills may be significant to a company in improving productivity.

Human capital is an essential resource, and retaining qualified employees add to competitive strength. Leaders need to consider the employees' abilities to effectively manage a business (Rothenberg et al., 2016). Skilled employees have considerable bargaining power, and if unhappy at work, they may seek employment opportunities from other businesses (Mellahi et al., 2016). According to Shaw and Luiz (2017), businesses regularly compete in the market by connecting human capital and talents. Consequently, the business may lose a competitive advantage when skilled employees leave the company.

Harnessing employees' talents could result in a profitable business, and a business leader capable of managing talent could experience high performance. Kozak (2018) noted that business leaders utilize human capital resources to maximize profit. According to Davis et al. (2016), a significant correlation exists between talent and performance. Business core competencies rely on how leaders connect employees' talent to business processes (Aydiner et al., 2019; Crowley-Henry et al., 2018; Hartmann & Vachon, 2018). Profit-driven business leaders need to focus on the employees' skills, knowledge,

experience, originality, and innovation to maximize profit. Human capital could improve value preposition (Baptista et al., 2014). Focusing on human capital could help business leaders equip them with a specific set of capabilities to do business, including financial sustainability.

Education and training could improve tacit knowledge of acquiring and managing financial resources. Successful business owners need to acquire financial knowledge to utilize financial resources (van Stel et al., 2017). Financial education is a significant factor in economic growth and business sustainability (Farhidi, 2017). Effective utilization of human capital means training employees to become financially literate when equated to employees in other businesses (Aidoo, 2019). Investment in human capital is essential for long term business sustainability as it enables business leaders to acquire financial knowledge necessary for business survival.

Human capital is a valuable resource. Business leaders focus on profits through the proper utilization of human capital to achieve financial success (Moise et al., 2020). The two types of human capital are positive-sum capital and zero-sum capital. The positive-sum capitals are biological capital and knowledge capital. Biological capital comprises characteristics such as health, gender, age, and the level of intelligence of an employee (Goldsmith et al., 2018). With time, a person ages, and biological capital diminishes. A positive-sum capital concept supports the notion that an employee could gain knowledge through experience. The knowledge capital is about building tacit and explicit knowledge. Human capital skill sets increase when an employee continues to attend school. Employees, including consultants who continue to attend school in the

respective field of expertise, gain additional skills, resulting in increased knowledge capital for business survival.

The two categories of zero-sum capital are past experiences and social capital. The first type of zero-sum capital is past performance, which refers to a person's accomplishments throughout the entire life (Wilfahrt, 2018). Employees' experience can be a tacit knowledge from subjective, cognitive, and experimental learning. The second type of zero-sum capital is social capital, which refers to how people network with others to gain knowledge. Social capital relates to people interacting with others to acquire knowledge and resources for business continuity (Glanville & Story, 2018). A person or employee could use zero-sum to advance work and earn a higher salary and wages. Prondzinski and Miller (2018) noted that a drawback to zero-sum capital includes research time and cost. However, business leaders who could utilize zero-sum capital successfully create a business alliance to acquire resources needed for business continuity.

Training. An employee with skills, experience, and knowledge could create value for a business. Business leaders are responsible for improving human capital's tacit and explicit knowledge (Lee et al., 2018). Leaders could measure employees' strength through skills and qualifications, personality, ability, education levels, intelligence, emotional intelligence, or geography (Capelleras et al., 2019). Improving tacit and explicit knowledge of human capital could affect the financial health of a company.

Employee capability refers to the skill level of an employee to perform at an optimum level. Employees lacking innovative new skills and expertise could slow

business progress (Lins et al., 2017). Business leaders need to encourage employees to share their skills and experience with others (Zhu et al., 2018). Skilled human capital is a significant resource to business as employees' expertise, competencies and talent could improve value over competitors in the same industry (Zhou et al., 2019). Staff knowledge enhances business productivity and profitability resulting in business long suitability.

Harnessing employees' talent would help the company maximize resources and improve value to remain competitive. Business leaders regularly employ staff based on their human capital, assets of the skills, knowledge, and experience (Bick et al., 2018). The business landscape is continually changing, and originality, innovation, and skills are essential for human capital development to remain competitive (Fleming, 2017). An employee needs to go through the essential education to stay competitive (Alon et al., 2016). Higher education in a chosen field enables employees to reason, comprehend topics or themes that are intricate or complex (Bowen & Fincher, 2018). Educated business leaders successfully utilize the resources to their benefit than less educated ones (Hahn & Gangeness, 2019). Besides encouraging higher education, leaders need to offer ongoing training to sharpen employee's skill sets. Companies' leaders could develop their human capital through seminars and workshops (Cairó & Cajner, 2017). Salunke et al. (2019) stated that business skills and company knowledge assimilation results in strategic advantage. Moreover, educated and experienced employees could improve business productivity resulting in business growth.

Business soft skills include financial management, marketing, sales, customer service, leadership, communication and negotiation, project planning and management,

networking, and problem-solving skills. Soft business skills are essential for business survival (Ortega-Lapiedra et al., 2019). Soft business skills require problem-solving, critical thinking, leadership skills, adequate communications, oral communication, organizational skills, public speaking, presenting, and leadership. Investment in developing employees' knowledge and skills set could attract financing institutions as these organizations exhibit competency (Eidizadeh et al., 2017). Access to finance could result in business continuity. The modern-day business environment is quite complicated, fragile, and competitive. Skilled and knowledgeable workers impact the efficiency and business process (Hahn & Gangeness, 2019). Business owners, particularly in the consulting sector, need the necessary skills, competencies, and knowledge to successfully manage business operations (Boyd, 2015). Elo et al. (2015) indicated that highly trained business owners possess greater capital access. Blum (2015) strongly asserted that adequate training positively affects young firm profitability and survival. To increase sustainability and competitive advantage, many business leaders need to provide further training to their employees by teaching them about business education.

Businesses leaders need to continually educate staff regarding the inner workings of how businesses run and the ever-changing business procedures and processes.

According to Abubakar et al. (2019), knowledge management is collecting, overseeing, and distributing employees' knowledge of capital throughout the organization. The process entails possessing knowledge for innovation (Sauerwald et al., 2016). According to Caloghirou et al. (2017), business knowledge enhances business progression. A

consulting company's leaders need to improve the technical experience, start-up experience, and industry-specific experience for long term sustainability.

Small Business

Small businesses are the backbone of the national economy. Small business constitutes over 90% of all employers and comprise over 60% of new private-sector jobs (Dilger, 2017). More than 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of business inception (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2017). Within 10 years of operation, only one-third of small businesses survive in the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration, 2017a). Small businesses are susceptible to economic turbulence because of limited access to resources (Jogaratnam, 2017). Small business leaders in the consulting sector need innovative strategies to remain competitive. Minner and Shi (2017) suggested that small business owners need to develop innovative business strategies from the beginning of a business venture to sustain beyond 5 years of operation. Innovative strategies involve utilizing resources and knowledge (Bridgen, 2017). Small business innovative strategies involve understanding business objectives, purposes, and goals essential for business continuity and growth.

Consulting Companies

In a business environment, many uncertainties exist, and business leaders need help from consultants who are professionals in their field to improve business performance. Consulting companies offer expert advice. Wandiga et al. (2019) stated that consulting companies incorporate industry or business-specific experts to address business issues. In 2015, the consulting combines global revenues exceed over \$400

billion (Plunkett Research, 2020). Management consults help fill a gap in asymmetric information, identify problems, find solutions, and manage risk (Pereira et al., 2017). Therefore, seeking help from management consultants could result in business sustainability and growth.

Management consulting companies hire and train advisory consultants who help organization leaders manage problems by identifying the issues, analyzing them, and recommending solutions. Consultants eliminate doubts, help expand ownership, help with decision making, expose overlooked problems, analyze systems, and compare business practices with competitors to maintain business continuity (Vukotic et al., 2017).

Consultants assist in solving issues and moving people or corporate entities from the current state to their preferred state so that businesses continue to operate with a profit.

Business leaders face uncertainties and risks. Business leaders hire management consultants to provide advisory service in many business areas, including human resources, operations, marketing, and technology, financial analysis, auditing, system analysis, market research, product design, and business planning (Pereira et al., 2014). Consulting companies are heterogeneous, intangible, and advisory consultants involve in diverse interactions (Pereira et al., 2014). Kubr (1976) stated that consulting is an independent essential service that provides professional knowledge to address management problems, and solutions may not be straight forward requiring ongoing coaching and guidance. Therefore, management consultants assess risks and mitigate them to help businesses survive beyond 5 years of operation.

However, many management consulting businesses struggle to survive.

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017), more than 80% of consulting businesses fail within 5 years of operation. Consulting businesses could fail for many reasons, such as lack techniques and methodologies, poor communication, project-focused rather than client-focused, and no brand name and lack of networking (Andrew, 2017). The management consulting industry has received little attention among academic scholars because of being fragment and less regulated (Srinivasan, 2014). Therefore, the research objective for this study was to fill the literature gap by exploring strategies some successful consulting companies use to survive beyond 5 years of operation.

Consulting History

The consulting business landscape has changed over time. Consulting corporations began in 1886, when Arthur Dehon Little created his own management company, which focused on technical research (Heisig & Spellerberg, 2001). In 1914, Booz Allen Hamilton began another consultancy company, which dealt with both government and private sector clients (Shrader, 2007). Later, the McKinsey and Company established by Marvin Bower between 1950 and 1967 focused on management strategy and modern consultancy (Figee et al., 2017). Marvin employed MBA graduates because he understood that they are distinctive when solving problems than undergraduates. Sokol (2020) stated that consultant companies have a similar objective but may go about the actual task differently. In earlier days, consulting was entirely about organizational structures, which later transformed into strategy-based in the mid-1960s (Seabrooke & Hasselbalch, 2018). Strategy-based consulting enables consultants to

narrow down to specific business problems that hinder business progressions and then provide innovative business continuity solutions.

The two functions of consultancy companies include the legitimacy of operations and the expansion of new information. After globalization, consultancy service started to improve, and schools began to teach consultancy. As a result, the need for consultancy began to grow (Lamb & Crompton, 2017). Organizations developed consultancy services in information technology and outsourced consultants to remain competitive. The development and the growth of consultancy services resulted in companies such as IBM, Accenture, Booz Allen Hamilton, and Deloitte. These consulting companies have been pioneers in assisting businesses to maintain long-term sustainability.

Few historical incidents affected the consulting business. The dot-com crash and the credit crunch affected consultancy services (Afanasyeva et al., 2020). The dot-com crash occurred during early 2000 when a bubble appeared in the technology industry, and e-business negatively affected the consultancy sector leading to stagnation (Afanasyeva et al., 2020). The financial crisis of 2008 led to a credit crunch. Credit crunch and dot-com crash resulted in a loss of confidence in consumers and a drop in share prices.

Consumers decreased their spending habits, thus leading to a drop-in revenue of the consultancy industry. Recently, the consultancy industry began thriving because of the revolution in the field of information technology.

Types of Business Ownership

Various forms of business ownership exist. The forms of business ownership for African American consulting companies include sole proprietorship, partnership, and a corporation (Tian et al., 2017). A sole proprietorship business is not a legal entity, and only one person owns and manages the business (Marandi et al., 2015). A sole proprietor can set up a modest business using a limited amount of funds. The owner of a sole proprietorship has immeasurable liability as such that a sole proprietor is responsible for any payments not made to creditors (Marandi et al., 2015). A sole proprietorship's main advantage is that a business owner can withhold business losses from any source of revenue earned during a year (Pakroo, 2018). In a general partnership, two or more people manage and own the business in which they combine their resources or capital to attain the business's shared objective. An advantage of a general partnership is few paperwork. Another advantage is that partnerships could operate in several states without getting a new permit for each state. Corporations raise money through shares, and shareholders enjoy limited liability in which creditors cannot sue them or go after their personal properties if the corporation fails to meet financial obligations (Ivashina & Lerner, 2019). Business leaders in the consulting industry need to decide the type of business ownership based on specific business goals and resources to sustain for the long term.

Business Financing

Businesses need capital to operate, and business owners need to make financing plans to maintain cash flow. Access to financing is essential for long-term economic sustainability (Brown et al., 2019). Small business failures result from either the lack of management or lack of appropriate capitalization or sometimes both (Deb & Wiklund, 2016). Business owners' access to finances could alter or change the capability to employ

a workforce, buy goods, obtain licenses, and sustain growth. Many businesses fail because of a lack of financial resources (Byun et al., 2020). Howell (2018) stated that business owners could not develop a lucrative business without early access to outside financial resources. However, securing financing can be challenging for small business owners (Howell, 2018; Nizaeva & Coskun, 2018). African American-owned businesses comprise 6.6% of attained loans from profitable loan organizations than white-owned companies, nearly doubled the rate at 12.1% (Freeland & Keister, 2016). A businesses inability to obtain financing could affect business survival.

Access to financial resources can be challenging. A business with poor business credit could struggle to access loans (Cole & Sokolyk, 2018). Financial knowledge is essential to make a well-versed and active decision about business finance, investments, and credit (Drever et al., 2015). If a business leader has an excellent financial management strategy, financial institutions are favorable in lending as the strategy shows that the business can generate income to pay back the borrowed funds (Cosenz & Noto, 2018). Access to funds could improve sales, revenue and decrease costs. Financial support enables a business to grow, expand, and survive (Knezevic & Lukic, 2017). Economic growth needs an adequate cash stream to endure development (Abbasi et al., 2018). Justo et al. (2015) stated a very close association between financial resources and business growth. The shortage of funds for growing companies could affect business survival.

A business could acquire funds through debt financing, equity financing, mezzanine financing, business angels, and venture capitalists. Debt financing consists of

traditional business loans and short-term loans (Cole & Sokolyk, 2018). Debt capital requires repayment with interest. An advantage of debt financing is that the company would be able to get the essential resources to grow or continue its standard operations (Howell, 2018). When deciding loan amounts, financing institutions view how the consulting companies pay back the loans (Tabares et al., 2015). The financial institution accesses a business's standings to determine credit worthiness while providing debt financing. During debt financing, financial intuitions look at credit history, bank account records, track record, and ability to repay (Arnold et al., 2018). A business with past bad credit, poor bank account records, and poor track records cannot access a loan. Acquiring debt entails legal procedures, and the financial institution often seeks collateral and evaluates the business's credit ranking (Arnold et al., 2018). Consulting companies could obtain financial support when financial institutions have confidence in businesses (Zhang et al., 2018). Businesses with financial support are likely to maintain economic sustainability contributing to business longevity.

Business leaders could use equity financing to fund projects. In equity financing, a business could raise capital by offering shares in exchange for cash. The purchase of business shares allows specific rights within the company. Purchasing the shares forces the business leaders to pay the purchasers a portion of what the business earns.

Mezzanine financing is a combination of a bank loan and company shares (Burns & Dewhurst, 2016). Businesses get an opportunity to attain loans, but business leaders could decide to change the debt into equity in the long run.

Besides funds, business angels and venture capitalists provide strategic guidance and resources to the business. Business angels have a stake in the company during its first stages of operation, and they can offer funding to the business to permit its existence (Wille et al., 2017). Angel investors also provide technical support and guidance. The disadvantage of business angels' funding is that they could governor all operations of the business (Manigart & Sapienza, 2017). Venture capitalists are investment banks or financial institutions that offer to fund essential business expansion (Drover et al., 2017). A business leader's ability to obtain the fund from a specific source depends on business goals. The leaders could continue business operations beyond 5 years of operation if they have access to financing.

Business Leadership

A leader plays a significant role in business continuity. Huggins et al. (2017) noted knowledgeable and experienced management team possesses innovative decision-making capabilities that contribute to business longevity. A leader is someone who motivates and encourages others to be the best version of themselves to succeed in their objectives (Bolman & Deal, 2017). Leadership is unlike management, and the two terms are quite different. In management, the manager generally controls the staff and educates them on attaining the business objectives (Liphadzi et al., 2017). The manager oversees the staff typically to ensure that they do what is necessary to complete the business's general planned objectives (Northouse, 2018). Leadership is about motivating and inspiring followers to ensure that they accomplish their business objectives (Dust et al., 2018). Competent management people play a significant role in developing and harness

employees' skillsets and knowledge to remain profitable, leading to long term business survival.

Managerial skills have a positive correlation with business success. Calme and Polge (2018) noted that many businesses fail because of a lack of managerial skills. Miller and Le Breton-Miller (2017) classified leadership style as transactional and transformation style. Transactional leaders delegate tasks while closely monitoring and are vocal about employee's performance (Bottomley et al., 2016). Transactional leadership negatively affects employee engagement (Brown & Danaher, 2019). A transformational leader inspires followers through motivation by focusing on their values and beliefs (Birt et al., 2016). Therefore, Miller and Le Breton-Miller (2017) stated that the transformational leadership approach is effective in improving organizational performances for business longevity. Each leadership style has distinct managerial attributes, and business leaders need to adapt the style based on their business landscape.

Consulting business leaders adopting a transformational leadership approach could maintain business continuity through employee empowerment. Empowered employees possess a high motivation to succeed in business (Minbaeva, 2017). In the transformational leadership approach, leaders do not govern or manage followers or employees as the manager does. Instead, the leader inspires and motivates followers to be the highest version of themselves to accomplish their own goals (Mo & Shi, 2017). A transformational leader's characteristics include self-awareness, integrity, equality, innovativeness, determination, interest, knowledge, and endurance (Doppelt, 2017). A

transformational leader attempts to inspire both followers to increase employees' productivity to enhance enterprise performance, leading to long-term business continuity.

Innovation

Some small business owners lack strategies to sustain a business for the long term. However, resilience via an innovative approach could sustain growth (Jogaratnam, 2017). Strategic innovation could result in business longevity (Taneja et al., 2016). Strategic innovation and strategic planning are related to one another. However, small business leaders first need innovative strategies development before planning and implementation. In changing the business environment, small business leaders need to adjust strategies, which require an innovative approach (Miller & Le Breton-Miller, 2017). Alrhaimi (2015) contended that business leaders should constantly lookout for innovative means to operate a business. According to Curado et al. (2018), innovation sustains growth by improving efficiency and efficacy. Innovation stimulates growth, open avenues to improve quality, and service, leading to business continuity and long-term sustainability.

Small business operation constitutes many interrelated activities. Activities include marketing, finance, business alliance, risk management, customer orientation, technology, sales forecasting, business structuring, and sales forecasting. All these activities contribute to small business survival and growth. Therefore, business leaders need innovative strategic planning to excel in all these activities (Ortiz-Villajos & Sotoca, 2018). Innovative planning should meet both short-term and long business goals relating to business activities (Wynn & Jones, 2018). Innovation strategies are essential for small

business survival (Wojan et al., 2018). Innovation has a positive implication for business growth, expansion, international presence, and longevity.

Transition

Small businesses are the backbone of the national economy. More than 50% of small businesses fail within the first 5 years of business inception (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2017). The objective of this study was to explore strategies some African American-owned consulting business owners use to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation. This section stated the problem statement, identified a suitable conceptual framework, and discussed the literature review findings.

In Section 2, I discussed my role as a researcher, research methodology and design, sample size justification, and ethical standards. Section 2 includes data collection, organization, and analysis techniques. Section 2 concludes with a discussion regarding measures taken to ensure study reliability and validity. Section 3 includes study findings and recommendations.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes a discussion of various approaches to ensure that the current study was credible and reliable. In Section 2, I discussed (a) research method and design, (b) the role of the researcher, (c) participants recruitment process, and (d) sampling techniques. I justified the sample size, explained how I maintained ethical standards, and described how I collected and analyzed data.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years. The target population comprised African American owners of three consulting businesses located in the Northeast region of the United States who had successfully sustained their business beyond 5 years. The implications for social change included business success generating tax income to local governments, which government officials could use to improve public safety, affordable housing, and public schools, benefiting people in the community.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher's role is to select a suitable research methodology and design, recruit participants, collect data, and analyze data (Levitt et al., 2018; Trainor, 2018). I was the main instrument for data collection. I collected data using semistructured telephone interviews and company documents. Using data, I strove to understand African American consulting company business owners' innovative strategies to sustain business beyond 5 years of operation.

Semistructured interviews require researchers to formulate questions in advance to control the course of the conversation while allowing the contributors to answer willingly (Jamshed, 2014). While conducting interviews, I minimized bias to avoid maneuvering participants' responses toward my liking. Haven and Van Grootel (2019) stated that bias could threaten the quality of research. Qualitative researchers need to recognize that the researcher's bias exists, and evading bias in research can be difficult (Fusch & Ness, 2015). At times, researchers may inadvertently inject bias without prior knowledge (Bansal et al., 2018). As the researcher in the current study, I avoided bias by being mindful of any prejudices. To minimize bias, I used a bracketing technique.

Bracketing techniques allow a researcher to be aware of preconceived bias through the self-reflexive process (Chan et al., 2013). Smith and McGannon (2017) validated the significance of lessening the possibility of bias during research.

A researcher needs to have the proper knowledge of the study phenomenon to adequately capture the participants' responses (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I had over 10 years of experience in management consulting business. I selected participants based on their knowledge and experience with the study phenomenon. I did not know the research participants, and I did not have any vested interest in participants' companies.

An interview protocol is a tool of analysis researchers can use. An interview protocol (see Appendix A) also assists in reminding the interviewer to communicate significant pieces of information to the interviewee (Roulston, 2018). Researchers need to follow the guidelines for protecting the subjects in research studies. *The Belmont Report* is the principal relating to ethical research. *The Belmont Report* include guidelines for a

code of conduct: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (Miracle, 2016).

Respecting is treating participants as self-governing individuals. Beneficence involves protecting participants from harm, and justice is about impartiality during the study. I abided by *The Belmont Report* guidelines and received Walden Institutional Review Board approval to ensure that the research was ethical and would not harm the participants in this case study.

Participants

In this study, I explored innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners used for business longevity beyond 5 years. The target population comprised African American owners of three consulting businesses located in the Northeast region of the United States. The interviewees were active members of the area's business community. I identified participants from public lists and business consulting company directories. Upon identifying potential participants, I reviewed their LinkedIn profiles to ensure they met study eligibility criteria. I interacted with potential participants by emailing them regarding their potential interest in the study. The research criteria required that participants were (a) African American consulting company business owners who resided in the Northeast region of the United States, (b) in the consulting business and with a minimum of 5 years of experience, and (c) successful in sustaining business beyond 5 years of operation.

Each participant received an invitation email (see Appendix B) for research participation. Researchers can send information and receive participants' consent through an email invitation (Carbonell et al., 2018). The invitation email clarified the study

purpose and included the participant's consent form (see Appendix B), which they signed electronically by replying "I agree" to the email.

A significant portion of qualitative research includes gathering data from research interviewees. After receiving the participants' consent, I invited them to participate in a preinterview via telephone to answer their questions and build a good working relationship. I approached participants with directness and honesty to maintain a good working relationship. Creating a connection between the researcher and interviewee is multidimensional (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). A researcher's relationship with the participants develops during the initial communication stages (Petrova et al., 2016). Implementation of *The Belmont Report* principles guaranteed respectful treatment, no harm, and fair treatment of participants, which is essential to build trust. Researchers should always create trust with the participants for credible findings (Pfattheicher & Böhm, 2018).

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The appropriate method for this study was the qualitative research method and multiple case study design. The research method had time constraints. The goal of time constraints is to produce a measurable result so that metrics can be set in place (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The qualitative researcher needs to emphasize the information intricacies and focus less on the data collection metrics (Maxwell, 2019). The qualitative data contained an improved level of detail and insights from a thorough examination. Qualitative researchers must follow a detailed outline of questioning, data collection, and

information reporting (Siddaway et al., 2019). The qualitative method enables a researcher to find the answers regarding knowledge, meaning, and standpoint from the participants' perspective (Bansal et al., 2018).

Human practices and observations are essential constructs of qualitative data (Bansal et al., 2018). Qualitative researchers have two different functioning systems. The first functioning system is an unintentional operation technique, which is the fast and intuitive observation of data (Merkel & Lohse, 2018). The second functioning system is slower and more systematic and includes assessing all data sources before being conclusive. Research types depend on the dual functioning system while disregarding the intuitive nature of the human mind (Merkel & Lohse, 2018). I used qualitative methodology to explore participants' emotional instinct through observation to ensure the reliability of the data. The open-ended interview questions enable a researcher to obtain in-depth responses from participants (Siddaway et al., 2019).

Unlike a qualitative study, a quantitative approach allows a researcher to examine a phenomenon through numerical means by measuring relationships (Benhabib et al., 2019). The quantitative method was not suitable for this case study because I did not intend to quantify opinions, actions, and other distinct variables. The mixed-methods approach is the combination of qualitative and quantitative methods (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I did not choose the mixed-methods approach because the quantitative method was not viable for this study.

Research Design

The two designs that were suitable for this study were multiple case study and phenomenology. Phenomenology is ideal for discovering and understanding real-life experiences (Bryant, 2018; Flynn & Korcuska, 2018). I did not choose the phenomenological design because I was not exploring the real-life experience of the phenomenon. According to Ridder (2017), researchers utilize case studies to increase the analytical comprehension of phenomena. As the researcher, I used the case study design to investigate and examine multiple cases to comprehend the multifaceted makeup of the phenomenon under investigation.

The three qualitative research designs not suitable for this study were grounded theory, ethnography, and narrative. An ethnographic design involves the researcher's involvement within a group setting to understand the group's culture and human lives (DiGiacomo et al., 2015; Sutton & Austin, 2015). When researching participants through the ethnographic design, the researcher follows the participants for an extended time. The narrative design is a method of investigation in which a researcher examines one or more individuals' lives in a storytelling format (Mohajan, 2018). Finally, grounded theory involves an inductive and deductive approach to data analysis (Mohajan, 2018).

I conducted a multiple case study in which I held telephone interviews with owners of three diverse consulting businesses. The principal data collection method was managerial interviews. Multiple case studies have literal and theoretical replications (Mohajan, 2018). Literal replication encompasses the practice of multiple cases to substantiate each other. Theoretical replication means that the researcher picks the cases

solely on the assumption that the data will create different results. I interviewed three participants to reach data saturation. According to Aldiabat and Navenec (2018), data saturation happens when no new information emerges in the interview. Boddy (2016) stated that data saturation occurs with detailed interviews constituting probing questions. To achieve data saturation, I asked follow-up and probing questions during the telephone interviews.

Population and Sampling

Sampling is an essential aspect of the qualitative research method. The sampling technique I used in this study was purposive sampling. Purposive sampling is an alternative to probability-based sampling in qualitative studies (Palinkas et al., 2015). Researchers regularly use purposeful sampling in qualitative research for the identification and assortment of information-filled cases linked to the phenomenon (Hammarberg et al., 2016).

The sample size in a study should result in data saturation, which occurs when information becomes repetitive (Sim et al., 2018). Three participants constituted an appropriate sample size because more than three runs the risk of taking excessive time to complete the study and may not contribute to new information. Yin (2018) stated that a small sample size enables a researcher to collect data in a specific setting.

Researchers need to reach data saturation to develop credible findings (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). I continued interviewing participants until I reached data saturation.

According to Fusch and Ness (2015), researchers achieve data saturation once participants' responses become repetitious, new themes cease to emerge, and additional

coding is no longer probable. Failure to reach data saturation negatively impacts the validity of a study (Yin, 2018).

Ethical Research

As the researcher, my responsibility was to ensure privacy through the code of ethics. Walden University's Institutional Review Board enforces a strict code of ethics that all Walden researchers need to follow. When designing studies that necessitate human subjects, researchers must attempt to reduce the risk to human participants (Tajir, 2018; Yin, 2018). Reducing risk was a priority in this case study. In addition to a verbal description of the study, I provided participants a copy of the informed consent form. The consent form offers information about the conditions of the agreement (Tajir, 2018).

The Belmont Report (Wood, 2017) specifies guidelines for ethical research when involving human subjects. The procedures specified in *The Belmont Report* emphasize the importance of gaining consent from research participants before collecting data. For this study, I provided a thorough overview of the research project, including sample interview questions, to all potential participants. A researcher needs to discuss the study with possible participants to allow them to formulate educated conclusions about whether they want to participate (Lentz et al., 2017; Trainor, 2018). I did not incentivize participation in this multiple case study. However, I provided a summary of study findings to participants. The consent form included assertions that participants would receive no monetary rewards for participating in the study.

When a researcher invites subjects to participate in research, the researcher needs to explain the benefits and risks of participating (Lentz et al., 2017). Researchers need to

protect the participants' confidentiality and make participants aware that they can withdraw from the study at any time (Yin, 2018). Sil and Das (2017) recommended that consent forms include an option to withdraw at any time. The clause regarding withdrawal from the study ensures that participants understand that there will be no penalty for withdrawing.

My responsibility was to maintain the study's integrity by following high ethical standards and by safeguarding the participants' rights and privacy. I followed *The Belmont Report* guidelines to ensure the proper protection of participants. Researchers must also consider confidentiality (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I referred to participants using a special naming system throughout the study. Onwuegbuzie and Weinbaum (2017) suggested using pseudonyms to protect participants' identities. If a participant had wished to withdraw from the study at any time, I would have destroyed all of that participant's information and data. Additionally, I will secure stored paper data in a locked file cabinet and electronic data in a password-protected hard drive for 5 years after the study's completion. After 5 years, I will shred the paper data and delete the electronic data. The Walden IRB approval number for this study is 04-05-21-0603419.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this multiple case study.

Researchers are the focal instruments for qualitative data collection (Clark & Vealé, 2018; Cope, 2014; Yin, 2018). In addition to collecting data through semistructured interviews, I reviewed business financial statements, financial records, past and present financial projections, and business plans. A company's financial business information

and business plans contain information that researchers can use to explain how business leaders maintain success and sustainability (Clark & Vealé, 2018). In addition to business records and documents, I obtained data from participants' responses to open-ended interview questions. Researchers need to align interview questions with research questions to produce significant results (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Researchers use semistructured interviews to acquire information from participants about their practices concerning the study topic (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). By using open-ended questions, interviewers offer participants the freedom of answering as they choose (Castillo-Montoya, 2016).

I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) in this case study. Researchers establish an interview protocol to ask participants multiple questions regarding carefully chosen corresponding topics (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). An interview protocol also allows other researchers to assess and replicate the study (S. R. Jones et al., 2014). After data analysis, I conducted member checking via telephone. I provided the participants with an opportunity to review my data interpretation to ensure study validity. Researchers use member checking to enhance the validity of the data and to ensure the correct interpretation of participants' responses (Leung, 2015).

Data Collection Technique

The objective of this study was to explore innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years. Data collection methods consisted of semistructured interview responses, and an analysis of documents provided by the participants. To keep track of the data, I kept a journal of all

the participants' information. Researchers use journals as guides for follow-up interviews, to track data, and to categorize participant meetings (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Conducting semistructured interviews involves many advantages such as (a) data is descriptive, (b) adaptable interview location, (c) retrieve data in a timely fashion, and (d) understandable data collection process (Weller et al., 2018). The disadvantages, as Yin (2018) stated are that participants may exaggerate the research problem with their responses during the interview, time limitations, and the researcher has no statistical or numerical information.

Use of an interview protocol ensured that I captured data in the same way from each participant to maintain study reliability. Each interview followed the same protocol (see Appendix A). An interview protocol is essential for a multiple case study design as interviewers can use them to retrieve information appropriate to the study (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). An interview protocol contains a list of procedures the researcher will follow during the duration of an interview (Patton, 2015). Before the beginning of each interview, I reviewed the informed consent with the participants and obtained permission from participants for an audio recording of the interview. I introduced myself before each interview and informed the participant that they could withdraw from the study at any time per Walden University guidelines. I also notified the participant that the information collected was for the study purpose only. The actual interviews lasted approximately 45-60 minutes. I explained to the participants that the responses given were going to be transcribed, recorded, and filed away. During semistructured interviews, I followed up with probing questions. Once done with the interviews, I requested company documents

from the participants. Marshall and Rossman (2016) recommended performing member checking to validate the interpretations of participants' interview responses to ensure study reliability. I conducted member checking via telephone after data analysis to ensure data interpretations are accurate.

Data Organization Technique

The data included interview transcriptions as well as secondary documents provided by the participants. I organized related information in a Microsoft datasheet and Excel file. Researchers must explain the gathering and management of data to guarantee the case study's reliability and validity (Sutton & Austin, 2015). A researcher needs to keep recorded data organized and easily accessible (Sutton & Austin, 2015). Use of NVivo software enabled me to store data for coding purposes. I kept all data labeled and secure and only accessible to me. Tripathi et al. (2017) described the data organization technique to store data throughout research properly. As the researcher, I kept hard copies of financial documents in a locked file cabinet. I stored electronic files, including electronic recordings of interviews, interview transcripts, and all notes, on a password-protected computer. Five years after the completion of the study, I will shred the paper data and deleted electronic data.

Data Analysis

Yin (2018) indicated case study researchers needs to gather and study multiple sources of evidence. Yin (2018) also suggested studying all data before making general assessments in a multiple case study. I followed Yin's (2018) data analysis approach in this study. Yin's approach involves carefully exploring the data, classifying the data into

themes or repetitive categories, arranging and testing the categories, and putting the categories together again to analyze the findings. Heesen et al. (2019) stated that methodological triangulation is using several methods instead of a single method to collect data. I used interviews along with company documents to collect data. Dawes Farquhar and Michels (2016) stated that to ensure that a case study results are reliable, researchers must conduct methodological triangulation.

I used the qualitative software analysis method. As the researcher, I uploaded all data to NVivo 11 and identified recurring themes across all data. Researchers use NVivo to assist with qualitative data processing, organization, and themes (Muqadas et al., 2017). To ensure that I captured all data, I used an audio recording device during interviews. I also administered data cleansing to ensure that data entered into NVivo did not include irrelevant data.

Rearranging data during the case study development is essential to researchers for coding purposes (Bengtsson, 2016). I reviewed business documents to validate participants' interview responses. Nowell et al. (2017) suggested splitting the data sources into groups through coding. According to Belotto (2018), coding is an analytical process of recognizing a passage in the text or other data items to develop themes. Following coding, researchers develop themes during data analysis (Vaismoradi et al., 2016).

Young et al. (2018) stated comparing interview data with the results from past and present studies. Once I understood the outcomes, I compared the developed theme with findings in the literature through thematic analysis. Use of thematic analysis allows a

researcher to identify similarities and variation among themes in the literature (Teruel et al., 2016).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability is study dependability. Researchers could improve a study's dependability through member checking, method triangulation, data interpretation, audits, and experimental testing (Calamia, 2019; Leung, 2015). Reliability is the state in which a measurement procedure produces repetitive outcomes over recurring measurements (Marshall and Rossman, 2016). Lub (2015) mentioned future replication of research findings in similar condition ensure study dependability. A full description research procedure can assist future researchers in study replication. To guarantee a high chance of reliability in a case study, a qualitative researcher should ensure no mistakes, errors, or prejudices (Leung, 2015). Reliability is the degree of accuracy or trustworthiness of a study (Sliwinski et al., 2018). I ensured study reliability by following the interview protocol.

Validity

Validity refers to the range or scope a researcher is measuring. Validity is what a researcher hopes to measure and the actual outcome (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The validity of qualitative research entails the truthfulness of the study (Lub, 2015). I was mindful of personal perspectives and experiences that could lead to methodological prejudice. I collected accurate data indicating the participant's responses (see Hays et al.,

2016). A researcher could maintain study validity through credibility, transferability, and conformability (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

To ensure creditability, I implemented methodological triangulation and member checking. Researchers use a methodological strategy, such as triangulation, to support the case study's consistency and creditability (Bengtsson, 2016). Additionally, I collected relevant company documents, such as financial statements, annual cash flow statements, and financial projections to maintain methodological triangulation. Transferability entails guaranteeing that the findings apply to other participants with similar characteristics (Houghton et al., 2016). I furnished readers with detailed study procedures through vivid narratives to ensure transferability. Confirmability means data accuracy (Hays et al., 2016). I minimized bias during data collection and analysis through use of the bracketing technique. Data saturation occurs when themes repeat in qualitative research, and no new themes emerge (Gentles et al., 2015). I reached data saturation by asking semistructured interview questions, follow up questions, and probing questions to three qualified consulting company business owners.

Transition and Summary

The focus of this study was to explore innovative strategies African American small consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years of operation. Section 2 of this study contains in-depth information exploring the role of the researcher, participants, and the research method. In this section, I discussed the research design, population, and sampling. Section 2 also includes an outline and review of the data collection instruments, the data collection procedures, data analysis, and study reliability

and validity. Section 3 consists of information on research results, outcomes, and findings. Section 3 also includes application to business practices and implications for social change, recommendations, and personal reflections.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

More than 80% of consulting businesses fail within 5 years of operation (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2017). The objective of the current qualitative multiple case study was to explore innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years. The target population comprised African American owners of three consulting businesses located in the Northeast region of the United States who had successfully sustained their business beyond 5 years.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question was the following: What innovative strategies do African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years? Semistructured interviews and company documents were the sources of data. The RBT was the conceptual framework for this study. The data analysis process was Yin's (2017) five step approach with NVivo 11 software. Findings included three themes: embracing entrepreneurial mindset, fostering creativity for innovation, and capitalizing on specialty.

Theme 1: Embracing Entrepreneurial Mindset

All participants stated that to build leadership skills, business leaders need to embrace an entrepreneurial mindset. According to the participants, many small business owners get into consulting businesses without the right entrepreneurial mindset and skills. P1 said that the mindset is about positioning for success, requiring putting one in

challenging situations. P1 added that the challenging situations could be obtaining finances, mastering consulting topics, finding the right business partner, or finding clients. According to P1, "when small business owners embrace challenges, they may make mistakes, learn from those mistakes, and ultimately build confidence." P2 noted that the entrepreneurial mindset is seeking problems as a set of opportunities. P2 said that an entrepreneur seeks to create value for a wide range of stakeholders and lift the human condition. According to P2, business leaders need steadfast commitment toward their business vision: "In the company offices, hallways, cafeteria we have posters highlighting our business vision as a constant reminder of what we are doing and why we do the things that we do." P2 presented some company promotional materials, which included the company vision statement reflecting the purpose for their existence.

Participants said that small business leaders in a consulting-related service need to have some knowledge in consulting area. P3 added that the leaders approach problems from all angles to provide the best solutions to their clients. P3 said

we conduct group discussions, think differently and often come up with better solutions than one we come up with initially. We give few days before we move forward with our recommendations to ensure that our solutions to a problem are the best that we came up with.

P3 presented a document relating to company guidelines in the consulting process. The document revealed how leaders define, evaluate, implement, and follow up during various touchpoints of the consulting process.

When it comes to searching for opportunities, meaning finding clients, seeking funding, or problems that require attention, P3 said "there are field searchers and opportunity creation." P3 said field search is about going out in the field and seeking existing opportunities. When asked to expand upon these, P3 stated that innovative entrepreneurs create an opportunity from almost nothing, and when an opportunity presents, entrepreneurs need to ask what makes them capable of taking up challenges and why now. All participants supported the notion that entrepreneurs need to align their unique qualifications, capabilities, and resources to execute the task. According to P2, "after all, as a consultant, we need to be experts in our field." P1 posited that the opportunity creation process involves identifying services to offer to potential customers, building a suitable business model, revenue model, and value proposition. P1 presented a document on the business model. The document showed company strategy in integrating change management, project management, and technology in business the model to derive value. P1 suggested organizing business to present the value proposition and developing core competency.

All participants stated that business success depends on knowledge and capabilities. According to the participants, finding the right talented partner could add value to the business. Moreover, participants noted that an entrepreneurial mindset is about creating an alliance with the people who could be resourceful. According to P1, "if you possess operational mindset, then most likely you are good in planning and analysis. Then it will be beneficial to build a team with people who are innovative and visionary. We call it aligning thinkers with the executors."

When it comes to marketing or promoting the business, P2 contended that it is better to focus on a business concept statement that includes the main component of the compelling and clear business messages to the audience. All participants stated that the value proposition should be compelling for customers to take action. However, P2 cautioned stating that in marketing "do not mislead people because if customers discover insincerity, business reputation will be at risk." P2 presented marketing materials, which included services offered and company facts, that illustrated the business's ability to tender service offered with competency. An entrepreneurial mindset is about honesty, which was mentioned by all participants. Moreover, according to the participants, entrepreneurs need to portray strength and capabilities in their value proposition.

Therefore, entrepreneurs must pursue consulting on a topic that they consider themselves experts.

The business constitutes many functions that require effective execution. A person's job fit is essential, said P1: "Entrepreneur should build the team and then delegate a task to the right person." P1 noted that company leaders used TaskRabbit to find the right people for their team. P2 said that an entrepreneurial mindset knows the difference between a job and a business. According to P2, "the best way to distinguish is by asking if I die today, will the company survive. If the answer is No then, it is a job, not a business." An entrepreneur needs to train and develop a team who can run the business in the leader's absence, added P2. According to the participants, entrepreneurs need to define success because it varies among individuals. P2 contended "by defining success

tailored to one's interest, entrepreneurs could motivate themselves. Motivated individuals put their creativity into motion."

According to the participants, an entrepreneurial mindset is about understanding and finding solutions to endogenous factors that hinder business sustainability. All participants stated that discussing all endogenous factors affecting consulting business is beyond the scope of this study. However, all participants noted the importance of access to funds for business continuity. P1 said "many small consulting businesses fail because business entrepreneurs do not have access to financial resources." According to P1, small consulting businesses need funds for day-to-day working capital expenses, hiring consultants, payroll, technology, and marketing. Therefore, business owners need to seek conventional financing because of low interest rates and long-term debt financing.

Moreover, P1 said business leaders could seek SBA loans and grants because businesses view consultants as contractors and provide needed support for their endeavors. P1 presented a printout of SBA loans and eligibility criteria for consultants. The document also included the funding structure and grant life cycle of federal grants through the Grant.gov site. However, getting a loan or grant as a contractor is not easy. According to P1, their business leader found it difficult to secure traditional and alternative loan options in the first 5 years of operation because the business was considered new. P1 said "we sought to borrow cash in advance." P1 added that they developed a business proposal to present to angel investors for business cash advance for a portion of its future revenue. P1 said that they sought help from outside consultants for business plan proposal preparation.

According to P3, business leaders could enhance their entrepreneurial mindset by writing a weekly reflective journal. The journal should reflect how business leaders approach and respond to opportunities, risks, and challenges. P3 said "while writing journal, think like a traveler. A traveler is open to curiosity, adventure, excitement, and that type of mindset could help an entrepreneur to tap into resources, take calculated risk, and explore opportunities." P2 said "business leader needs to commit to become a better version of themselves. Therefore, we provide webinars and classroom training to our consultants, consisting of market trends, technological breakthroughs, motivational books, self-efficacy books, and business trade." The participant presented a few trade publications. The documents revealed valuable information relating to technology applicable to consulting businesses. P2 added that the materials and trainings helped them think laterally, identify resources, acquire knowledge, and sharpen skills. Moreover, according to P2, "ongoing research help us search for new trends emerging concepts in our consulting field that other people do not foresee."

Connecting Theme 1 to the Literature

All participants noted that leadership skill development requires an entrepreneurial mindset. An entrepreneurial mindset is essential for small business survival (Mutoko, 2014). The study findings revealed that business leaders need steadfast commitment toward their business vision. According to Psychogios and Garev (2015), business leaders' inability to follow and integrate business vision within an organization could result in business failure. Current participants posited that an entrepreneurial mindset is about creating an alliance with people who could be resourceful. Business

leaders need to create a strategic alliance with other business leaders to utilize their resources to improve business performance and competitiveness (Dasgupta, 2018). Song (2015) stated that social networks enable a flow of information to foster innovation. According to current participants, a business leader needs to commit to becoming a better version of themselves by acquiring knowledge. Education and training could improve the knowledge and capabilities of small business owners (Phillips et al., 2014). Business leaders face many constraints accessing loans from conventional banks and may seek funding from angel investors. Howell (2018) stated that business owners could not develop a lucrative business without early access to outside financial resources. The angel investors could provide funding and guidance to businesses (Manigart & Sapienza, 2017).

Connecting Theme 1 to the Conceptual Framework

RBT supports the notion that strategic resources' knowledge and possession could provide a business with a competitive advantage over opposing markets (Barney, 2001). Therefore, business leaders need an entrepreneurial mindset to identify and acquire resources to remain sustainable. Embracing an entrepreneurial mindset improves business leaders' capabilities to develop and manage rare, valuable, and nonsubstitutable resources that are difficult to replicate, resulting in business longevity. Chun-Lan (2015) used RBT to improve entrepreneurial aspiration for a successful financial future. Current participants pointed out that an entrepreneurial mindset is essential to access finance for business continuity. RBT is suitable to identify financial resources for overall business strategy development for business sustainability (Campbell & Park, 2017).

Theme 2: Fostering Creativity for Innovation

According to current participants, consulting is a broad topic covering a wide field applicable to all industry types, business types, and sizes. P1 said "to succeed, a business owner needs to look at the industry and business type from Porter's five lenses." P1 added that Porter's framework could help business owners understand the nature of competitors, threats for new entrants, and ease of access. P1 also stated "once you grab the market share, a business owner needs to be creative to increase the market share and make others difficult to enter your space."

All participants stated that business leaders face competitive pressure, and to adapt to the business ecosystem, one must remain creative and willing to accept challenges. While discussing the market share, P2 talked about the blue ocean strategy and red ocean strategy. The participant used the blue ocean metaphor to identify untapped growth opportunities, create demands, and gain access to uncontested market space.

According to P2, "the blue ocean concept enables business owners to operate in their league without tensed competition." The red ocean metaphor is for known market space in which competition is intense, and to increase market share, leaders must beat the competition. P2 added "the red ocean metaphor is ocean turning red with cut-throat approach and terrible competition turning the ocean bloody."

P2 noted that the red ocean strategy is not suitable for long-term business sustainability. Therefore, business leaders need to adapt to the blue ocean strategy for long-term sustainability. P2 discussed the blue ocean strategies stating that the business leaders need to challenge the status quo and go beyond predefined structures within an

industry. P2 said "this is where the entrepreneurial mindset is important. Business owners with entrepreneurial mindsets transition from a structuralist worldview to a reconstructionist worldview. In reconstructionist worldview there no boundaries or set of structures to follow." Participants noted the importance of creativity for innovation. P2 stated that the reconstructionist view involves creating a new structure by shaping thinking and creating demand, supply potential, service development, market development, market penetration, value innovation, and differentiation.

According to P2, a business leader needs to develop a strategy canvas to understand what needs to be reduced, eliminated, or created for a new value. P2 presented the strategy canvas. The document included an action framework that graphically illustrated company performances across various factors in the industry. P2 added that business leaders need to look across alternative industries, look into complementary services offerings, and review them in conjunction with strategy canvas to identify opportunities. P2 suggested looking into functional and emotional appeals of customers and across time within a chain of buyers to see if one can develop a new market.

P2 said while deploying the blue ocean strategy, the business owners need to do some feasibility screening to assess the viability of the innovative business concept.

According to P2, the feasibility test enables business owners to assess whether the proposed initiative delivers a compelling value proposition. The value proposition should address identified customers and market segments highlighting core competency. P2 added "the value proposition should tell a business story that is appealing to the targeted

customers." While developing value prepositions, business owners should shift the focus to customers' needs, differentiation, resources, and the team, noted P2. P2 further posited that business leaders will know if they should proceed with a business concept or reject it during the process of value creation. According to P2, if the concept is feasible, the business leader needs to develop the business plan and the blueprint of prototypes, identify teams, seek funding, and collect the resources required. If the concept is no-go, business owners need to revisit their strategies and do another quick screen feasibility test. "It is what we call design thinking," said P2.

All participants stated that entrepreneurs need to take a risk and look for alternatives until solutions look viable. According to the participant, a quick feasibility study also means understanding the strengths and weaknesses of business activities or functions. P3 said that business leaders need to start improving the weakest link in business through innovation and start improving the remainder of business activities. P3 posited "we are in consulting business for over decades, and we are constantly improving all our business activities because the market is not static, and we should not be static either." P3 presented a company document related to existing change management. The document revealed company adaptation to technology and changes to business processes and policies over time. P1 also supported the notion by stating that business leaders need to adapt to change and continually look for avenues to improve. According to P1, "recently we did digital transformation across our processes and legacy system. We integrated technologies such as automation and artificial intelligence into our workflow.

Digital integration enhanced our process, communication with customers, and improved our productivity."

Participants noted that innovation is an ambiguous term. The term innovation is appliable to many businesses' functions. When discussing innovation, all participants indicated that business leaders need to know the type of innovation relating to business activities or services. P3 said that innovation could mean making existing services better, improving business processes, utilizing business intelligence tools, enhancing operational standards, developing effective marketing tools, and so forth. Participant posited that when we talk about innovation in the consulting sector, we usually refer to approach in acquiring new knowledge to solve new problems. P3 said that during decades of service in consulting arena, the leaders found that their innovation resulted from interaction with clients. P3 posited, "For instance, clients approach us with problems, and while exploring the foresight, we come across other problems that clients have no foresights. Later, we discovered that other businesses in similar industries experience problems similar to those that we discover with our interaction with clients." P3 said that the consultant-client relationship is essential in their software development. P3 noted that the client is on-site where they test and implement their prototype. P3 presented documents relating to testing of software prototype and document revealed various modifications to meet client's business and technical requirements. P3 noted, "If porotype does not make sense to our client, it does not make business sense. Therefore, their feedback is driving force for our innovation process."

P1 said that knowledge sharing among consultants helps with the innovation process. P1 discussed both formal and informal knowledge sharing. Management from P1 company institutionalizes the formal and informal knowledge sharing for innovation. According to P1, Formal knowledge sharing includes business activities for organizational learning. Informal knowledge sharing is about consultants openly discussing their project's scope, risk, challenges, and outcomes with coworkers. P1 noted that knowledge sharing helps us retain knowledge within the institution. When asked to expand, P1 said, "If consultants hold their knowledge and later decides to leave the company to join the competitor, then not only we lose their ideas, but also our competency." To remain sustainable, consulting company leaders need some structures to retain ideas within an organization.

Connecting Theme 2 to the Literature

In theme 2, participants stated creativity for innovation. Strategic innovation could result in business longevity (Taneja et al., 2016). The participants noted knowledge sharing, conducting feasibility screening, and designing and using strategy canvas as creative leadership attributes. Knowledge sharing could improve decision-making capabilities, aid in problem-solving and accomplishing tasks, and increase work performance (Zhu, 2016). According to the participant, the *Blue Ocean* strategy constitutes identifying opportunities through creativity. Designing and using strategy canvas for new services or markets is a management strategy to expand market share (Kurochkina et al., 2019). The feasibility analysis enables a business leader to learn the

potential for service offered during market development and also assists in understanding business capability and financial ability to proceed (Berry, 2017).

Connecting Theme 2 to the Conceptual Framework

In theme 2, participants noted the need for creativity for innovative strategy formulation for product differentiation, market development, and market penetration. Business leaders could use the tenets of RBT to formulate innovative strategies for their business's long-term sustainability (Bromiley & Rau, 2016). According to Koseoglu et al. (2020), strategy formulation makes a plan in which leaders hope to accomplish business objectives. Karami (2016) stated that entrepreneurial leaders formulate innovative strategies while considering available resources and competencies. Innovative strategies result in financial sustainability (Dhir & Dhir, 2015).

Theme 3: Capitalizing on Specialty

Consulting could cover a wide range of areas. Participants said that the business leaders could not be a consultant to all issues and could reduce core competency while doing so. All participants noted that business leaders need to understand their specialty area in consulting and capitalize on that. P1 company document revealed specialization in technology integration. P1 said we specialize in integrating technology relayed to automation, edge computing, cloud, and digital twins to manufacturing businesses. P1 said the company services construction-related businesses with CMiC service, web application service, data migration, and outsourcing. P2's company specializes in strategic selection, constituting vendor management, and outsourcing companies in the technology arena. P3 company document revealed the service in ERP-related proprietary

software. P3 said they customize their ERP planning software to specific client's needs. P3 noted that the business leaders familiarize themselves with their client requirements, and their developers modify the software to meet the client's specifications. All participating companies appeared to have some specialty in their services, and the leaders seemed to focus on their niche market.

P2 said, "In some instances, we come across clients whom we do not have resources to service. Therefore, the company leaders work with other businesses in a network to service the clients." However, P1 said, "If we advocate as one-stop solutions to all business problems, then we lose our competency as it sounds questionable.

Therefore, we do not service in areas that are outside expertise."

The most complex challenge to all consulting businesses is finding clients. When asked to expand upon the marketing strategies, participants stated using social media platforms, outside vendors, business conferences, and chambers of commerce. All businesses leaders are a member of their local chamber of commerce. P1 and P2 stated that they hire freelancers to update their content on LinkedIn and Tweeter routinely. Upon working with knowledgeable freelancers, the leaders said their followers on both Twitter and LinkedIn have increased. All participants noted that advertising content needs to impact clients at various touchpoints in the decision-making process effectively. When asked about the type of content, P3 presented documents relating to social media content, including industry and market news, reviews and new trends and technological tools, and tips for business success. P3 recommended company website optimization to

enhance customer experience. P1 recommended HubSpot CRM to understand analytics regarding customer browsing history.

A consultant should be knowledgeable in the area they are consulting. P2 emphasized that success depends on consulting business leaders adapting to *Blue Ocean* strategy and integrating core competency. P2 said, "If core competency is acting as a catalyst, then the consultant needs to identify clients who need help to get the ball rolling. The help could be meeting much needed objectivity with one's areas expertise." According to P3, the strategy to succeed in consulting business is to identify the knowledge gap and acquire that needed knowledge either through training or education.

P3 said that their consultants are freelancers working as independent contractors who work virtually. According to P3, working with freelance contractors enable them to minimize cost. P3 added working with freelance widen up consulting area to meet the demands of broader client base. P2 cautioned, stating that consulting leaders need to understand their capabilities and choose potential customers by size. According to P2, larger companies already have a connection with the other consultants, and in this regard, small businesses are more approachable. However, P2 noted the dilemma with small companies like startups is that they have limited time and money.

All participants stated consulting business success depends on how leaders approach clients. P1 said the leader comes across clients who seek services but offer a low price for service. P1 said they charge clients based on the complexity of service and time needed to complete the project. P2 said, "We use our algorithm in our pricing strategy, and if clients are reluctant to offer our asking fees, then we refer them to outside

freelancers who could work within their budget." In most instances, clients are reluctant to work with outside freelancers as they are afraid to compromise the quality of service, therefore, reverts to their service, added P2.

P2 and P3 stated that most of their business comes from referrals. P1 said they request their referrer to provide a warm introduction to the potential clients. P1 noted using *influite* software for referrals management. Moreover, P1 presented document relating to client's success stories that they use in the referral process. P1 noted they use success stories in their LinkedIn and Tweeter feed. The credibility of a person giving referral is essential when seeking referrals. All participants suggested forming a community around what they do. P3 said we partnered with other businesses similar to ours who are not direct competitors working in a different market segment. Companies share resources, combat challenges for mutual benefits.

P3 stated that some clients are problematic, and if that is the case, they seek business with someone else. P3 added that sometimes it is difficult to say NO to business, but posited that problematic client could impact brand through negative reviews. So, according to P3, "When we sense the possible problem ahead, we reject it outright." All participants stated that they are working with multiple clients in many instances, and therefore, time management is essential. According to participants, consultants need to sharpen their horns, meaning as a category expert, consultants need to expand their knowledge, keep their ideas fresh. P1 said the consultants read trade magazines, attend webinars, obtain training by industry expert vendors, work with mentors. P1 showed training modules in their company portal.

P3 said professionalism is paramount in consulting business. P3 said when consultants talk with clients, they should sound experts in their field. P3 added, "There is no memorized scripts, pitch, and dialogue constitute of two professionals talking to each other. The communication is transparent, welcoming, caring, and genuine." All participants stated giving 150% to meet clients' expectations. P3 said most clients become their repeat customers as the business landscape and technologies are changing, and they needed help to stay on top of everything.

Connecting Theme 3 to the Literature

In theme 3, participants noted capitalizing on the specialty in service offered, technology, selection of social media platform, content engineering, and client handling through effective communication. Small business leaders require specialized knowledge and industry expertise to remain sustainable (Mitchelmore et al., 2014). According to the participants, use of technological tools could improve customer experience. Effective technology deployment could assist in business continuity (Olanrewaju & Jomoh, 2014). The findings revealed content management in social media could be a business specialty, which results in improved marketing reach. Effective content in social media marketing is essential to ignite customers' interest and to assist in their buying decisions (Shrestha et al., 2019). The participant noted business leaders who possess good negotiation skills could close sales and obtain referrals. Positive customer engagement through communication enhances customer loyalty leading to brand referrals (Singh & Srivastava, 2019)

Connecting Theme 3 to the Conceptual Framework

In theme 3, participants stated that leadership capabilities to specialize in the consulting field and tapping into the niche market could give business core competency. Participants suggested using business resources such as technological tools, training, business alliances, social media platform, and content engineering to specialize in consulting subject matter and marketing. Access to rare resources could improve business productivity leading to sustainable business (Mellahi et al.,2016). According to Chuang and Lin (2017), the RBT concept is helpful for business leaders to look at a business landscape through resources. Moreover, RBT theorists embody planned choice, charging the business management with the significant responsibilities of classifying, procuring, and organizing essential resources to take full advantage of potential returns from unique resources (Hitt et al., 2016).

Applications to Professional Practice

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017), more than 80% of consulting businesses fail 5 years of operation. Consulting business could fail for many reasons: Lack of techniques and methodologies, poor communication, project-focused rather than client-focused, and no brand name and lack of networking (Andrew, 2017). The management consulting industry has received little attention among academic scholars because of being fragment and less regulated (Srinivasan, 2014).

Discussing all strategies that could affect business survival is beyond the scope of this research. Business owners, particularly in the consulting sector, need the necessary skills, competencies, and knowledge to manage business operations successfully (Boyd,

2015). The study findings revealed three main themes that could potently elongate business continuity. The three themes are embracing entrepreneur mindset, foster creativity, and specializing tools, process, and sharpening consultancy expertise.

Embracing an entrepreneurial mindset require knowledge. Many businesses fail because of a lack of managerial skills (Calme & Polge, 2018). Gerrard and Locket (2018) stated that knowledgeable and experienced management teams are the primary determinant for business success. Huggins et al. (2017) noted knowledgeable and professional management team possesses innovative decision-making capabilities that contribute to business longevity. Participants discussed strategies in combing business capabilities and resources. Strategies that combine business capabilities and resources result in a higher strategic position to remain profitable (Gutierrez-Gutierrez et al., 2018).

Strategies focusing on internal resources and business capabilities could increase market share (Sun et al., 2018). Foley and O'Connor (2017) noted business alliance is essential to access resources for business survival. According to the participants, business owners could not develop a lucrative business without financial knowledge and discussed a strategy to access loans. Successful business owners need to acquire financial knowledge to utilize financial resources (van Stel et al., 2017). Financial education is a significant factor in economic growth and business sustainability (Farhidi, 2017).

Participants discussed the *Blue Ocean* strategy, which applies to marketing and product differentiation. The innovative marketing approach results in a competitive advantage against the competitors, which could prolong business continuity (Williams & Aaron, 2018). Business owners who acquire creative expertise could improve business

progress (Lins et al., 2017). According to the participants, feasibility screening and strategy canvas are practical, innovative strategies. Innovation strategies improve efficiency and efficacy, leading to small business survival (Curado et al., 2018).

According to participants, a specialty in the subject matter in which the business owners plan to provide consulting service is known as business capability. According to Grant (2016), business leaders' ability to combine resources with their capabilities determines could result in a competitive advantage. Moreover, participants suggested knowledge sharing to acquire resources. Salunke et al. (2019) stated that business skills and company knowledge assimilation result in strategic advantage. According to Caloghirou et al. (2017), business knowledge enhances business progression.

Implications for Social Change

The success of consulting companies has many social implications. According to Gherghina et al. (2020), small and medium-size enterprises positively contribute to the economy through innovation and job creation. The study's findings could benefit small consulting businesses to remain profitable. When consulting businesses succeed, other businesses that rely on consultants' expertise could also benefit in terms of profitability and growth. Business profitability and growth could help the unemployed within society. Employment opportunities reduce financial stress among families, improve their living standards, and decrease crime in the community.

Profitable companies' leaders are likely to involve in charitable contributions. The charitable giving to social causes could improve the quality of life and balance the formation of social, financial, and environmental prosperity. By meeting organizational

social responsibilities, profitable company leaders are likely to enhance their image among their stakeholders, such as employees and customers (Aguilera, et al., 2007). Positive image improves employees' commitment and customers loyal to the organization, which could further drive profit resulting in more hiring, and charitable giving.

Moreover, profitable companies are likely to increase employees' compensation and job promotion. Happy employees take pride in their companies, provide superior customer service, and engage in company-sponsored volunteering activities to benefit the community. Also, business success generates tax income to local government, which government officials could utilize to improve public safety, affordable housing, and public school, benefiting people in the community.

Recommendations for Action

In 2015, the consulting combines global revenues exceed over \$400 billion (Plunkett Research, 2020). Management consults help fill a gap in asymmetric information, identify problems, find solutions, and manage risk (Pereira et al., 2017). However, according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017), more than 80% of consulting businesses fail in 5 years of operation. The management consulting industry has received little attention among academic scholars because of being fragment and less regulated (Srinivasan, 2014). Therefore, the study findings could fill the literature gap by identifying strategies some successful consulting companies use to survive beyond 5 years of operation.

The term consulting is ambiguous, meaning the consulting type varies based on consultancy and the industry. Discussing all strategies to sustain a small consulting business is beyond the scope of this research. However, the study finding revealed few fundamental strategies that could apply to all small consulting firms regardless of size, area of expertise, and industry type. The strategies include embracing an entrepreneurial mindset, fostering creativity for innovation, and specialization. These strategies are a holistic approach to leadership skills development, which has a wide range of practicality in the consulting field. The identified strategies could enable business leaders to think outside of the box and envision how they could apply them in their consulting business to remain sustainable.

My recommendation for business leaders includes embracing an entrepreneurial mindset through training, education, and knowledge sharing. Moreover, I recommend business leaders challenge the status quo and adapt to the *Blue Ocean* strategy, resulting in less competition and core competency in the untapped market. The study findings could be helpful to academic scholars who are interested in learning about small business sustainability. Also, academic scholars could do additional research to improve the generalization of the study findings to fill the literature gap. I plan to disseminate the study findings through ProQuest publication. Upon ProQuest publication, I would publish my study in peer-reviewed journals.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this study, I anticipated few limitations. The limitations were potential bias in the participants' responses and unable to obtain substantive data to support the study. The semistructured, open-ended interview questions and follow-up questions enabled me to reach data saturation. However, the data obtained were specific to participants' knowledge and business experience. Considering the broad scope of consulting business in terms of the consulting field and its applicability, discussing all strategies is beyond the scope of this study. Therefore, a future researcher could narrow down to specific consulting business types such as merger and acquisition, supply chain management, and human resource management.

The participants were open and not biased with their responses. However, integrating quantitative data to support participants' responses could further validate study findings. Therefore, future researchers could do research using a mixed-method methodology. The study includes three participants in case study settings. A future researcher could conduct additional research using large sample size and consulting business owners from different fields to improve study generalization.

Reflections

The doctoral journey has been overwhelming and yet rewarding. The challenges I faced were the long process, meeting committee members' expectations, and tedious reversions. However, each challenge was a lesson itself, teaching me perseverance, hard work, and commitment. The doctoral study made me capable of looking at the business through an eye of an executive. The study included an intensive literature review.

Learning from academic scholars in the field has broadened my understanding of small business operating styles, challenges, and strategies to remain competitive and sustainable. Moreover, I acquired research skills and improved my writing skills. All the

hard work I put in is worth knowing after completion, I will belong to an elite group of academic scholars. My recommendation to a future researcher is to choose a research topic with the area of interest to remain committed, considering the time and commitment needed.

Conclusion

The study findings revealed three main themes that could potently elongate business continuity. The three themes are embracing entrepreneurial mindset, fostering creativity for innovation, and capitalizing on specialty. Participants posited that an entrepreneurial mindset is essential in creating an alliance with the people who could be resourceful. Participants suggested business leaders commit to becoming a better version of themselves by acquiring knowledge. According to the participants, knowledge sharing, conducting feasibility screening, and designing and using strategy canvas as creative leadership attributes.

All participants noted capitalizing on the specialty in service offered. They recommended the *Blue Ocean* strategy as a creative approach for identifying opportunities. The *Blue Ocean* strategy includes feasibility screening and designing and use of strategy canvas. Moreover, participants suggested using technology, selecting social media platforms, content engineering, and client handling through effective communication. The term consulting is ambiguous, meaning the consulting type varies based on consultancy and industry nature. Discussing all strategies to sustain a small consulting business is beyond the scope of this research. Therefore, a future researcher

could narrow down to specific consulting business types and the industry to fill the gap in the literature.

References

- Abbasi, W. A., Wang, Z., & Alsakarneh, A. (2018). Overcoming SMEs financing and supply chain obstacles by introducing supply chain finance. *Holistica Journal of Business and Public Administration*, 9(1), 7–22. https://doi.org/10.1515/hjbpa-2018-0001
- Abubakar, A. M., Elrehail, H., Alatailat, M. A., & Elci, A. (2019). Knowledge management, decision-making style and organizational performance. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 4(2), 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2017.07003
- Afanasyeva, E., Jerow, S., Lee, S. J., & Modugno, M. (2020). Sowing the seeds of financial imbalances: The role of macroeconomics performance. Working Papers- U.S. Federal Reserve Board's Finance & Economic Discussion Series, 1-27. https://doi.org/10.17016%2Ffeds.2020.028
- Aggarwal, V. A. (2020). Resource congestion in alliance networks: How a firm's partners' partners influence the benefits of collaboration. *Strategic Management Journal*, 41(4), 627–655. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3109
- Aguilera, R. V., Rupp, D. E., Williams, C. A., & Ganapathi, J. (2007). Putting the S back in corporate social responsibility: A multilevel theory of social change in organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, *32*(3), 836–863. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2007.25275678
- Aidoo, A. W. (2019). The impact of human capital on product innovation. *Southeast Europe Journal of Soft Computing*, 8(2), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.21533/scjournal.v8i2.178

- Aldiabat, K. M., & Navenec, L. (2018). Data saturation: The mysterious step in grounded theory method. *Qualitative Report*, 23(1), 245–261. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.2994
- Almeida, F., & Pessali, H. (2017). Revisiting the evolutionism of Edith Penrose's The Theory of the Growth of the Firm: Penrose's entrepreneur meets Veblenian institutions. *EconomiA*, 18(3), 298–309. https://doi.org/101016201703002
- Alon, I., Boulanger, M., Elston, J. A., Galanaki, E., Martínez de Ibarreta, C., Meyers, J., Marta, M., & Vélez-Calle, A. (2016). Business cultural intelligence quotient: A five-country study. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 60(3), 237–250. https://doi.org/10.1002/tie.21826
- Alrhaimi, S. A. (2015). Achieving competitive advantage in economic crisis.

 *International Journal of Economics and Finance, 7(9), 287–292.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/ijef.v7n9p287
- Akram, U., Amir, W., Amir, M., Shahzad, F. (2018). Impact of transformation leadership on affective employee's commitment. *European Online Journal of Natural and Social Sciences*, 7(1), 1–10. https://european-science.com/eojnss
- Andersson, S., & Evers, N. (2015). International opportunity recognition in international new ventures-a dynamic managerial capabilities perspective. *Journal of International Entrepreneurship*, *13*(3), 260–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10843-015-0149-5
- Arnold, M., Hackbarth, D., & Xenia Puhan, T. (2017). Financing asset sales and business

- cycles. Review of Finance, 22(1), 243–277. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2356377
- Aydiner, A. S., Tatoglu, E., Bayraktar, E., Zaim, S., & Delen, D. (2019). Business analytics and firm performance: The mediating role of business process performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 96(1), 228–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.11.028
- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(1), 1189–1195. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Baptista, R., Karaoz, M., & Mendonca, J. (2014). The impact of human capital on the early success of necessity versus opportunity-based entrepreneurs. *Small Business Economics*, 42(4), 831–847. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-013-9502-z
- Barney, J. B. (2001). Is the resource-based "view" a useful perspective for strategic management research? Yes. *Academy of Management Review*, 26(1), 41–56. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2001.4011938
- Belotto, M. J. (2018). Data analysis methods for qualitative research: Managing the challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622–2633. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open*, 2, 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Bengtsson, O., & Hsu, D. H. (2015). Ethnic matching in the U.S. venture capital market.

 Journal of Business Venturing, 30(2), 338-354.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2014.09.001

- Benhabib, J., Bisin, A., & Luo, M. (2019). Wealth distribution and social mobility in the US: A quantitative approach. *American Economic Review*, 109(5), 1623-1647. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20151684
- Berry, G. R. (2017). Feasibility analysis for the new venture nonprofit enterprise. *New England Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 20(2), 1-19.

 https://www.emeraldgrouppublishing.com/journal/neje
- Bick, A., Fuchs-Schundeln, N., & Lagakos, D. (2018). How do hours worked vary with income? cross-country evidence and implications. *American Economic Review*, 108(1), 170-199. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20151720
- Bilkova, M., Greco, G., Palmigiano, A., Tzimoulis, A., & Wijnberg, N. (2018). The logic of resources and capabilities. *The Review of Symbolic Logic*, 11(2), 371-410. https://doi.org/10.1017/s175502031700034x
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(1), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1077/104973231665487
- Birtch, T. A., Au, K. Y., Chiang, F. F. T., & Hofman, P. S. (2017). How perceived risk and return interacts with familism to influence individuals' investment strategies: The case of capital seeking and capital providing behavior in new venture financing. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, *35*(2), 471-500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-017-9525-0
- Blum, D. A. (2015). Factors contributing to independent venture capital successful exits. *Journal of Business & Economics Research (JBER), 13*(1), 1-5.

https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v13i1.9074

- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053
- Bogers, M., Foss, N. J., & Lyngsie, J. (2018). The "human side" of open innovation: The role of employee diversity in firm-level openness. *Research Policy*, 47(1), 218-231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.10.012
- Bolman, L. G., & Deal, T. E. (2017). *Reframing organizations: Artistry, choice, and leadership.* John Wiley & Sons.
- Boon, C., Eckardt, R., Lepak, D. P., & Boselie, P. (2018). Integrating strategic human capital and strategic human resource management. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(1), 34-67.

 https://doi.org/101080095859220171380063
- Bottomley, P., Mostafa, A. M. S., Gould-Williams, J. S., & León-Cázares, F. (2016). The impact of transformational leadership on organizational citizenship behaviours:

 The contingent role of public service motivation. *British Journal of Management*, 27(2), 390-405. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12108
- Bowen, H. R., & Fincher, C. (2018). *Goals: The intended outcomes of higher education*. Routledge.
- Boyd, R. L. (2015). The "dream of Black metropolis" in the early twentieth century

 United States: Racial segregation, regional location, and Black population size.

 Sociological Spectrum, 35(3), 271-285.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02732173.2015.1021063

- Bray, N. J., & Williams, L. (2017). A quantitative study on organizational commitment and communication satisfaction of professional staff at a master's institution in the United States. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, *39*(5), 487-502. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080x.2017.1354757
- Bridgen, S. (2017). Using systems theory to understand the identity of academic advising: A case study. *NACADA Journal*, 37(2), 9-20. https://doi.org/10.12930/NACADA-15-038
- Bromiley, P., & Rau, D. (2016). Operations management and the resource-based view:

 Another view. *Journal of Operations Management*, 41(1), 95-106.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.003
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2019). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi-structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *4*(1),76-90. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2017.1379987
- Brown, J. D., & Earle, J. S. (2017). Finance and growth at the firm level: Evidence from SBA loans. *Journal of Finance*, 72(3), 1039-1080.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12492
- Brown, R., Mawson, S., & Rowe, A. (2019). Start-ups, entrepreneurial networks and equity crowdfunding: A processual perspective. *Industrial Marketing*Management, 80, 115-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.02.003
- Bryant, J. P. (2018). A phenomenological study of preschool teachers' experiences and

- perspectives on inclusion practices. *Cogent Education*, *5*(*1*), 1-12 https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2018.1549005
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2017). Business employment dynamics. Entrepreneurship and the U.S. economy. http://www.bls.gov
- Burns, P., & Dewhurst, J. (Eds.). (2016). *Small business and entrepreneurship*.

 Macmillan International Higher Education.
- Byun, S., Han, S., Kim, H., & Centrallo, C. (2020). U.S. small retail businesses' perception of competition: Looking through a lens of fear, confidence, or cooperation. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 52(4-5), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.101925
- Cairó, I., & Cajner, T. (2017). Human capital and unemployment dynamics: Why more educated workers enjoy greater employment stability. *The Economic Journal*, 128(609), 652-682. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12441
- Calamia, M. (2019). Practical considerations for evaluating reliability in ambulatory assessment studies. *Psychological Assessment*, *31*(3), 285-291. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000599
- Calme, I., & Polge, M. (2018). The importance of the banker-very small business owner relationship in financing developing small businesses. A proposed model. *Revue de l'Entrepreneuriat*, 17(2), 35-61. https://doi.org/1039171720035114
- Caloghirou, Y., Giotopoulos, I., Korra, E., & Tsakanikas, A. (2017). How do employee training and knowledge stocks affect product innovation? *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 27(4), 343-360.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10438599.2017.1362796

- Campbell, J. M., & Park, J. (2017). Extending the resource-based view: Effects of strategic orientation toward community on small business performance. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 34, 302-308.

 https://doi.org/101016201601013
- Cantele, S., & Zardini, A. (2018). Is sustainability a competitive advantage for small businesses? An empirical analysis of possible mediators in the sustainability—financial performance relationship. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 182, 166-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.016
- Capelleras, J.-L., Contin-Pilart, I., Larraza-Kintana, M., & Martin-Sanchez, V. (2018). Entrepreneurs' human capital and growth aspirations: The moderating role of regional entrepreneurial culture. *Small Business Economics*, 52(1), 3-25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9985-0
- Carbonell, X., Chamarro, A., Oberst, U., Rodrigo, B., & Prades, M. (2018). Problematic use of the internet and smartphones in university students: 2006–2017.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(3), 475-487. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15030475
- Cardoso, C. L., Gontijo, L. A., & Ono, M. M. (2017). Affective memory: An ethnographic approach to design. *Strategic Design Research Journal*, 10(1), 79-88. https://doi.org/10.4013/sdrj.2017.101.09
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-831.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu

- Cembrero, D., & Sáenz, J. (2018). Performance outcomes of interaction, balance, and alignment between exploration and exploitation in the technological innovation domain. *International Journal of Business Innovation and Research*, 15(1), 14-33. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbir.2018.10009018
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y., & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *The Qualitative Report*, 18(30), 1-9. https://tqr.nova.edu/
- Chuang, S. H., & Lin, H. N. (2017). Performance implications of information-value offering in e-service systems: Examining the resource-based perspective and innovation strategy. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 26(1), 22-38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2016.09.001
- Čirjevskis, A. (2019). The role of dynamic capabilities as drivers of business model innovation in mergers and acquisitions of technology-advanced firms. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 5(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc5010012
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482-485.

 https://radiologictechnology.org/
- Cole, R. A., & Sokolyk, T. (2018). Debt financing, survival, and growth of start-up firms.

 Journal of Corporate Finance, 50, 609-625.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcorpfin.2017.10.013

- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89-91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Corbett, J., Webster, J., & Jenkin, T. A. (2018). Unmasking corporate sustainability at the project level: Exploring the influence of institutional logics and individual agency. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *147*(2), 261-286.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2945-1
- Cosenz, F., & Noto, G. (2018). A dynamic business modelling approach to design and experiment new business venture strategies. *Long Range Planning*, *51*(1), 127-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2017.07.001
- Crowley-Henry, M., Benson, E. T., & Al Ariss, A. (2018). Linking talent management to traditional and boundaryless career orientations: Research propositions and future directions. *European Management Review*, *16*(1), 5-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12304
- Curado, C., Muñoz-Pascual, L., & Galende, J. (2018). Antecedents to innovation 100 performance in SMEs: A mixed methods approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 89, 206-215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.12.056
- Dasgupta, M. (2018). Driving innovation through strategic alliances: A framework.

 *International Journal of Strategic Business Alliances, 6(1), 130.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/ijsba.2018.094472
- Davis, T., Cutt, M., Flynn, N., & Mowl, P. (2016). *Talent assessment: A new strategy for talent management*. Routledge.

- Dawes Farquhar, J., & Michels, N. (2016). Triangulation without tears. In M. Gorza & C. Ragland (Eds.) *Marketing challenges in turbulent business environment* (pp. 325-330). Springer.
- Deb, P., & Wiklund, J. (2016). The effects of CEO founder status and stock ownership on entrepreneurial orientation in small firms. *Journal of Small Business*Management, 55(1), 32-55. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12231
- Dhir, S., & Dhir, S. (2015). Diversification: Literature review and issues. *Strategic Change*, 24(6), 569-588. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsc.2042
- DiGiacomo, M., Lewis, J., Phillips, J., Nolan, M., & Davidson, P. M. (2015). The business of death: a qualitative study of financial concerns of widowed older women. *BMC Women's Health*, *15*(1), 36-00. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-015-0194-1
- Dilger, R. T. (2017). Small business size standards: A historical analysis of contemporary issues. http://www.crs.gov
- Ding, Z., Zuo, J., Wang, J., & Zillante, G. (2016). Searching for niche market for engineering consultants. Case of regional supervisor system in China. *Engineering Construction & Architectural Management*, 23(5), 622-637. https://doi.org/10.1108/ECAM-09-2015-0132
- Doppelt, B. (2017). Leading change toward sustainability: A change-management guide for business, government, and civil society. Routledge.
- Drever, A. I., Odders-White, E., Kalish, C. W., Else-Quest, N. M., Hoagland, E. M., & Nelms, E. N. (2015). Foundations of financial well-being: Insights into the role of

- executive function, financial socialization, and experience-based learning in childhood and youth. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 49(1), 13–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12068
- Drover, W., Busenitz, L., Matusik, S., Townsend, D., Anglin, A., & Dushnitsky, G. (2017). A review and road map of entrepreneurial equity financing research:

 Venture capital, corporate venture capital, angel investment, crowdfunding, and accelerators. *Journal of Management*, 43(6), 1820-1853.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317690584
- Dunning, J. H. (2015). Reappraising the eclectic paradigm in an age of alliance capitalism. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Dust, S. B., Resick, C. J., Margolis, J. A., Mawritz, M. B., & Greenbaum, R. L. (2018).
 Ethical leadership and employee success: Examining the roles of psychological empowerment and emotional exhaustion. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(5), 570-583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.02.002
- Edelman, L. F., Manolova, T. S., & Brush, C. G. (2017). *Angel Investing: A Literature Review. Foundations and Trends® in Entrepreneurship*, 13(4-5), 265-439.

 https://doi.org/10.1561/0300000051
- Efrat, K., Hughes, P., Nemkova, E., Souchon, A. L., & Sy-Changco, J. (2018).

 Leveraging of dynamic export capabilities for competitive advantage and performance consequences: Evidence from China. *Journal of Business Research*, 84, 114-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.018
- Eggert, A., Ulaga, W., Frow, P., & Payne, A. (2018). Conceptualizing and

- communicating value in business markets: From value in exchange to value in use. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 69, 80-90.
- Eidizadeh, R., Salehzadeh, R., & Chitsaz Esfahani, A. (2017). Analysing the role of business intelligence, knowledge sharing and organisational innovation on gaining competitive advantage. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 29(4), 250-267. https://doi.org/10.1108/jwl-07-2016-0070

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.01.018

- Eijdenberg, E. L., Paas, L. J., & Masurel, E. (2015). Entrepreneurial motivation and small business growth in Rwanda. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging*Economies, 7(3), 212-240. https://doi.org/10.1108/jeee-01-2015-0004
- Elia, S., & Santangelo, G. D. (2017). The evolution of strategic asset-seeking acquisitions by emerging market multinationals. *International Business Review*, 26(5), 855-866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2017.02.004
- Elo, I. T., Frankenberg, E., Gansey, R., & Thomas, D. (2015). Africans in the American labor market. *Demography*, *52*(5), 1513-1542. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13524-015-0417-y
- Faggian, A., Partridge, M., & Malecki, E. J. (2017). Creating an environment for economic growth: Creativity, entrepreneurship or human capital? *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 41(6), 997-1009.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12555
- Fang, H., Kotlar, J., Memili, E., Chrisman, J. J., & De Massis, A. (2018). The pursuit of international opportunities in family firms: Generational differences and the role

- of knowledge-based resources. *Global Strategy Journal*, 8(1), 136-157. https://doi.org/10.1002/gsj.1197
- Farhidi, F. (2017). Solar impacts on the sustainability of economic growth. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 77, 440-450.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.04.033
- Ferreira, J., & Fernandes, C. (2017). Resources and capabilities' effects on firm performance: what are they? *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21(5), 1202-1217. https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-03-2017-0099
- Figee, E. L., Gosselt, J. F., Linders, P. C., & de Jong, M. D. (2017). The home front:

 Internal organization of public affairs in Dutch subnational governments. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 17(3), 4-5. https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.1641
- Fleming, P. (2017). The human capital hoax: Work, debt and insecurity in the era of uberization. *Organization Studies*, *38*(5), 691-709. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840616686129
- Flynn, S. V., & Korcuska, J. S. (2018). Credible Phenomenological Research: A Mixed Methods Study. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, *57*(1), 34–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12092
- Foley, D., & O'Connor, A. J. (2017). Social capital and networking practices of indigenous entrepreneurs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *51*(2), 276-296. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12017
- Freeland, R. E., & Keister, L. A. (2016). How does race and ethnicity affect persistence in immature ventures? *Journal of Small Business Management*, *54*(1), 210-228.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12138

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 *Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Galpin, T., Whittington, J. L., & Bell, G. (2015). Is your sustainability strategy sustainable? Creating a culture of sustainability. *Corporate Governance*, 15(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.21834/e-bpj.v1i1.237
- Gentles, S.J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K.A. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *Qualitative Reports*, 20(11), 1772-1789. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss11/5
- Gerrard, B., & Lockett, A. (2018). Team-specific human capital and performance. *British Journal of Management*, 29(1), 10-25. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12173
- Gherghina, Ş. C., Botezatu, M. A., Hosszu, A., & Simionescu, L. N. (2020). Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs): The engine of economic growth through investments and innovation. *Sustainability*, *12*(1), 1-22.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/su12010347
- Glanville, J. L., & Story, W. T. (2018). Social capital and self-rated health: Clarifying the role of trust. *Social Science Research*, 71, 98-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2018.01.002
- Gnyawali, D. R., Madhavan, R., He, J., & Bengtsson, M. (2016). The competition—cooperation paradox in inter-firm relationships: A conceptual framework.

 Industrial Marketing Management, 53, 7-18.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.11.014

- Goffee, R., & Scase, R. (2015). Corporate Realities (Routledge Revivals): The Dynamics of Large and Small Organisations. Routledge.
- Goldsmith, A. H., Darity, W., & Veum, J. R. (2018). Race, cognitive skills, psychological capital and wages. Routledge.
- Gomes, E., Barnes, B. R., & Mahmood, T. (2016). A 22-year review of strategic alliance research in the leading management journals. *International business review*, 25(1), 15-27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2014.03.005
- González-Rodríguez, M. R., Jiménez-Caballero, J. L., Martín-Samper, R. C., Köseoglu, M. A., & Okumus, F. (2018). Revisiting the link between business strategy and performance: Evidence from hotels. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 72, 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.11.008
- Gorovaia, N., & Windsperger, J. (2018). The choice of contract duration in franchising networks: A transaction cost and resource-based view. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 75, 125-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.03.002
- Grant, R. M. (2016). *Contemporary strategy analysis: Text and cases edition*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Gupta, A. (2017). Sales forecasting & market potential: Best practices in India. https://management.cloud-journals.com/
- Gutierrez-Gutierrez, L. J., Barrales-Molina, V., & Kaynak, H. (2018). The role of human resource-related quality management practices in new product development.

 International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 38(1), 43-66.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijopm-07-2016-0387

- Hahn, C. J., & Gangeness, J. E. (2019). Business, leadership and education: A case for more business engagement in higher education. *American Journal of Business Education (AJBE)*, 12(1), 19-32. https://doi.org/10.19030/ajbe.v12i1.10251
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*(3), 498-501. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Hartmann, J., & Vachon, S. (2018). Linking environmental management to environmental performance: The interactive role of industry context. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 27(3), 359-374. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2003
- Haven, T. L., & Van Grootel, D. L. (2019). Preregistering qualitative research.

 Accountability in Research, 26(3) 229–244.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1580147
- Hays, D.G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & Development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94(2), 172-183.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12074
- Heesen, R., Bright, L. K., & Zucker, A. (2019). Vindicating methodological triangulation. *Synthese*, 196(8), 3067-3081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-016-1294-7
- Heisig, P., & Spellerberg, F. (2001). Knowledge Management: The "One Company Platform"-Arthur D. Little, Inc. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Herlina, E., Syarifudin, D., & Kartika, R. (2019). The local knowledge transfer based on

- continuous improvement implementation at SMEs group. *Journal of Management Review*, *3*(1), 958-966. https://doi.org/10.25157/jmr.v3i1.1805
- Hitt, M.A., Carnes, C. M., & Xu, K. (2016). A current view of resource-based theory in operations management: A response to Bromiley and Rau. *Journal of Operations Management*, 41(1), 107-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.004
- Hitt, M. A., Xu, K., & Carnes, C. M. (2016). Resource based theory in operations management research. *Journal of Operations Management*, 41(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2015.11.002
- Holtzhausen, J. P., & Naidoo, V. (2016). Critical assessment of risk-taking behavior and economic performance of male entrepreneurs in the Centurion central business district in South Africa. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, 13(3), 93-104. https://doi.org/10.21511/imfi.13(3).2016.08
- Homburg, C., Jozić, D., & Kuehnl, C. (2017). Customer experience management:

 Toward implementing an evolving marketing concept. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(3), 377-401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-015-0460-7
- Hoskisson, R. E., Gambeta, E., Green, C. D., & Li, T. X. (2018). Is my firm-specific investment protected? overcoming the stakeholder investment dilemma in the resource-based view. *Academy of Management Review*, *43*(2), 284-306. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2015.0411
- Huggins, R., Prokop, D., & Thompson, P. (2017). Entrepreneurship and the determinants of firm survival within regions: human capital, growth motivation and locational conditions. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 29(3-4), 357-389.

https://doi.org/1010800898562620161271830

- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Brooker, D., & Casey, D. (2016). Healthcare staffs' experiences and perceptions of caring for people with dementia in the acute setting: Qualitative evidence synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 61, 104-116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.06.001
- Howell, A. (2019). Ethnic entrepreneurship, initial financing, and business performance in China. *Small Business Economics*, 52(3), 697-712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9980-5
- Hvala, N., Vrečko, D., Levstek, M., & Bordon, C. (2017). The use of dynamic mathematical models for improving the designs of upgraded wastewater treatment plants. *Journal of Sustainable Development of Energy, Water and Environment Systems*, 5(1), 15-31. https://doi.org/10.13044/j.sdewes.d5.0130
- Iramani, N. A., Fauzi, A. A., Wulandari, D. A., & Lutfi, N. A. (2018). Financial literacy and business performances improvement of micro, small, medium-sized enterprises in East Java Province, Indonesia. *International Journal of Education Economics and Development*, *9*(4), 303-323https://doi.org/10.1504/ijeed.2018.096069
- Ivashina, V., & Lerner, J. (2019). Pay now or pay later? The economics within the private equity partnership. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 131(1), 61-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2018.07.017
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal* of basic and clinical pharmacy, 5(4), 87-88. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-

0105.14194

- Jogaratnam, G. (2017). The effect of market orientation, entrepreneurial orientation and human capital on positional advantage: Evidence from the restaurant industry.

 International Journal of Hospitality Management, 60(1), 104-113.

 https://doi.org/101016201610002
- Johanson, J., & Mattsson, L. G. (2015). *Internationalisation in industrial systems-A network approach*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Jones, S. R., Torres, V., & Arminio, J. (2014). Negotiating the complexities of qualitative research in higher education: Fundamental elements and issues (2nd ed.).

 Routledge.
- Jones, T. M., Harrison, J. S., & Felps, W. (2018). How applying instrumental stakeholder theory can provide sustainable competitive advantage. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(3), 371-391. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0111
- Justo, R., DeTienne, D. R., & Sieger, P. (2015). Failure or voluntary exit? Reassessing the female underperformance hypothesis. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *30*(6), 775-792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2015.04.004
- Karami, A. (2016). Strategy formulation in entrepreneurial firms. Routledge.
- Katsirikou, A., & Lin, C. S. (2017). Revealing the "essence" of things: Using phenomenology in LIS research. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, 2(4), 469-478. https://www.gqml-journal.net/index.php/gqml/
- Knezevic, M., & Lukic, A. (2017). The importance of bank guarantees in modern business (business environment in Serbia). *Investment Management and*

- Financial Innovations, 13(3), 215-221. https://doi.org/10.21511/imfi.13(3-1).2016.07
- Kosaka, G., Nakagawa, K., Manabe, S. & Kobayashi, M. (2020). The vertical keiretsu advantage in the era of Westernization in the Japanese automobile industry: investigation from transaction cost economics and a resource-based view. *Asian Business & Management*, 19(1), 36-61. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41291-019-00074-2
- Koseoglu, M. A., Altin, M., Chan, E., & Aladag, O.F. (2020). What are the key success factors for strategy formulation and implementation? Perspectives of managers in the hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 89, 102574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102574
- Kozak, M. (2018). Determinants of business survivability: Literature review.

 International Journal of Synergy and Research, 6, 183-191

 https://doi.org/10.17951/ijsr.2017.0.6.183*
- Kubr, M. (Ed.). (2002). *Management consulting: A guide to the profession*. Bookwell Publishing.
- Kurochkina, A.A., Voronkova, O.V., & Bikezina, T.V. (2019). Management features of small and medium-sized business enterprises. *Revista Espacios*, 40(34), 1-13. https://www.revistaespacios.com/
- Lamb, C. W., & Crompton, J. L. (2017). Analyzing marketing performance. Routledge.
- Lee, K. H., Mauer, D. C., & Xu, E. Q. (2018). Human capital relatedness and mergers and acquisitions. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 129 (1), 111-135.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfineco.2018.03.008

- Lentz, J., Kennett, M., Perlmutter, J., & Forrest, A. (2017). Paving the way to a more effective informed consent process: Recommendations from the clinical trials transformation initiative. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 49, 65-69.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2016.06.005
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(3), 324-327.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: *The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. American Psychologist*, 73(1), 26-46. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151
- Li, L., & Qian, G. (2018). Strategic alliances in technology industries: a different rationale. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 39(2), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-01-2017-0005
- Li, X. (2018). How emerging market resource-poor firms compete and outcompete advanced country resource-rich rivals. *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management*, 25(3), 538-544. https://doi.org/10.1108/ccsm-08-2016-0155
- Lin, N. (2017). Building a network theory of social capital. Routledge.
- Lins, K. V., Servaes, H., & Tamayo, A. (2017). Social capital, trust, and firm performance: The value of corporate social responsibility during the financial

- crisis. *The Journal of Finance*, 72(4), 1785-1824. https://doi.org/10.1111/jofi.12505
- Liphadzi, M., Aigbavboa, C.O., & Thwala, W. D. (2017). A theoretical perspective on the difference between leadership and management. *Procedia Engineering*, 196, 478-482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.07.227
- Lub, V. (2015). Validity in qualitative evaluation: Linking purposes, paradigms, and perspectives. *The International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *14*(5), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406915621406
- Lubell, M., Mewhirter, J. M., Berardo, R., & Scholz, J. T. (2016). Transaction costs and the perceived effectiveness of complex institutional systems. *Public Administration Review*, 77(5), 668-680. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12622
- Makhmoor, B., & Rajesh, V. (2017). Why business model innovation is the new competitive advantage. *IUP Journal of Business*, *14*(1), 7-17. https://www.iupindia.in
- Manigart, S., & Sapienza, H. (2017). *The Blackwell Handbook of Entrepreneurship*.

 Blackwell Publishers https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405164214.ch12
- Marandi, M. R., Bazmi, A., & Ameri, N. (2015). Investigating the sole proprietorship firms in Iran and Egypt law. *Oman chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 4(7), 128-134. https://doi.org/10.12816/0019077
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2019). Distinguishing between quantitative and qualitative research: A response to morgan. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 13(2), 132-137.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689819828255

- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- Mellahi, K., Frynas, J. G., Sun, P., & Siegel, D. (2016). A review of the nonmarket strategy literature. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 143-173. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315617241
- Merkel, A. L., & Lohse, J. (2018). Is fairness intuitive? An experiment accounting for subjective utility differences under time pressure. *Experimental Economics*, 22 (1), 24-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10683-018-9566-3
- Miettinen, T., & Stenbacka, R. (2018). Strategic short-termism: Implications for the management and acquisition of customer relationships. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 153, 200-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2018.07.006
- Millar, C. C., Chen, S., & Waller, L. (2017). Leadership, knowledge and people in knowledge- intensive organizations: Implications for HRM theory and practice. The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 28(2), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244919
- Miller, D., & Le Breton-Miller, I. (2017). Underdog entrepreneurs: A model of challenge-based entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 41(1), 7-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12253
- Minbaeva, D. B. (2017). Building credible human capital analytics for organizational

- competitive advantage. *Human Resource Management*, *57*(3), 701-713. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21848
- Minner, J. S., & Shi, X. (2017). Churn and change along commercial strips: Spatial analysis of patterns in remodeling activity and landscapes of local business.

 Urban Studies, 1(1), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098016684274
- Minnis, M., & Sutherland, A. (2016). Financial statements as monitoring mechanisms: Evidence from small commercial loans. *Journal of Accounting Research*, *55*(1), 197-233. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679x.12127
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont Report. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *35*(4) 223-228. https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.000000000000186
- Mitchelmore, S., Rowley, J., & Shiu, E. (2014). Competencies associated with growth of women-led SMEs. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 21(4), 588-601. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-01-2012-0001
- Mo, S., & Shi, J. (2017). Linking ethical leadership to employee burnout, workplace deviance and performance: Testing the mediating roles of trust in leader and surface acting. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *144*(2), 293-303.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2821-z
- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571
- Mohr, A., & Batsakis, G. (2018) Firm resources, cultural distance and simultaneous international expansion in the retail sector. *International Business Review*, 27(1),

- 113-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2017.05.010
- Moise, L. L., Khoase, R., & Ndayizigamiye, P. (2020). The influence of government support interventions on the growth of African foreign-owned SMMEs in South Africa. *Analyzing the Relationship Between Innovation, Value Creation, and Entrepreneurship*, 104-124. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-1169-5.ch006
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Munce, S. E. P., & Archibald, M. M. (2016). "The future of mixed methods: A five year projection to 2020." *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 11(1), 11-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689816676659
- Muqadas, F. Rehman, M., Aslam, U., & Ur-Rahman, U.-. (2017). Exploring the challenges, trends and issues for knowledge sharing. *VINE Journal of Information and Knowledge Management Systems*, 47(1), 2-15.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/vjikms-06-2016-0036
- Mutoko, W. R. (2014). Challenges of access to markets and opportunities for small, medium and micro enterprises (SMMEs) in Botswana. Paper presented at 1st International Conference on Social Sciences and Humanities, ICSH, European Scientific Institute, Gaborone, Botswana. http://www.eujournal.org/
- Nakhata, C. (2018). The relationships between human capital, entrepreneurial competencies and career success of SME entrepreneurs in Thailand. *AU Journal of Management*, 5(1), 17-26. https://aujm.au.edu/index

- Nason, R. S., & Wiklund, J. (2015). An assessment of resource-based theorizing on firm growth and suggestions for the future. *Journal of Management*, 44(1), 32-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206315610635
- Neck, H. M., & Corbett, A. C. (2018). The scholarship of teaching and learning entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Education and Pedagogy*, *1*(1), 8-41. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515127417737286
- Nizaeva, M., & Coskun, A. (2018). Determinants of the financing obstacles faced by SMEs: An empirical study of emerging economies. *Journal of Economics and Social Studies*, 7(2), 81-99. https://doi.org/10.14706/JECOSS17725
- Northouse, P. G. (2018). Leadership: Theory and practice. Sage publications.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

 Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Olanrewaju, O. A., & Jimoh, A. A. (2014). Review of energy models to the development of an efficient industrial energy model. *Renew Sustain Energy Review*, 30, 661-671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.11.007
- Omoyza, I., & Agwu, E. (2016, January). Effectiveness of social media networks as a strategic tool for organizational marketing management. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 21(S2). https://doi.org/10.4172/1204-5357.s2-006
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Weinbaum, R. K. (2017). A framework for using qualitative comparative analysis for the review of the literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 22 (2), 359-372. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss2/1

- Ortega-Lapiedra, R., Marco-Fondevila, M., Scarpellini, S., & Llena-Macarulla, F. (2019).

 Measurement of the human capital applied to the business eco-innovation.

 Sustainability, 11(12), 3263-3279. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123263
- Ortiz-Villajos, J. M., & Sotoca, S. (2018). Innovation and business survival: A long-term approach. *Research Policy*, 47(8), 1418-1436. https://doi.org/101016201804019
- Pakroo, P. (2018). The small business start-up kit: A step-by-step legal guide. Nolo.
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Patton, M. (2015). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. Sage.
- Pedersen, E. R. G., Gwozdz, W., & Hvass, K. K. (2016). Exploring the relationship between business model innovation, corporate sustainability, and organizational values within the fashion industry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *149*(2), 267-284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3044-7
- Pereira, L. F., Jerónimo, C. M., & Ramos, M. R. (2017). Management consulting business models a perspective of sustainability. In 2017 International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Innovation (ICE/ITMC) (pp. 29-35). IEEE.
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. R. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *19*(3), 376-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116629218

- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research.

 Nursing Ethics, 23(4), 442-454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014564909
- Pfattheicher, S., & Böhm, R. (2018). Honesty-humility under threat: Self-uncertainty destroys trust among the nice guys. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 114 (1), 179-194. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000144
- Phillips, M., Moos, M., & Nieman, G. (2014). The impact of government support initiatives on the growth of female businesses in Tshwane, South Africa.

 *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 5 (15),85-92.

 https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n15p85
- Plunkett Research. (2020). Consulting business statistics analysis, business and industry statistics. http://www.plunkettresearch.com/statistics/consulting-%20market-research
- Prondzinski, D., & Miller, M. (2018). Active versus passive investing: Evidence from the 2009-2017 market. *Journal of Accounting and Finance*, 18(8), 119-143. https://doi.org/10.33423/jaf.v18i8.114
- Psychogios, A. G., & Garev, S. (2015). Understanding complexity leadership behavior in SMEs: Lessons from a turbulent business environment. *Emergence: Complexity & Organization, 14*(3), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.emerg/10.17357.98eea28e4d77a95776a55842dd839d46.
- Radzi, K. M., Nor, M. N. M., & Ali, S. M. (2017). The impact of internal factors on small business success: A case of small enterprises under the Felda scheme. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 22(1), 1-55. https://doi.org/102131520172212

- Rasheed, M. A., Shahzad, K., Conroy, C., Nadeem, S., & Siddique, M. U. (2017).

 Exploring the role of employee voice between high-performance work system and organizational innovation in small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 24(4), 670-688.

 https://doi.org/1011081120160185
- Ridder, H.-G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10 (2), 281-305. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z
- Rothenberg, S., Hull, C. E., & Tang, Z. (2016). The impact of human resource management on corporate social performance strengths and concerns. *Business & Society*, *56*(3), 391-418. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650315586594
- Roulston, K. (2018). Qualitative interviewing and epistemics. *Qualitative Research*, 18(3), 322-341. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794117721738
- Russo, M., & Cesarani, M. (2017). Strategic alliance success factors: A literature review on alliance lifecycle. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 8(3), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781783479580.00010
- Saleem, M. A. (2017). The impact of socio-economic factors on small business success.

 *Geografia-Malaysian Journal of Society and Space, 8(1), 24-29.

 http://www.ukm.my/geografia/v1/index.php?ver=loc
- Salunke, S., Weerawardena, J., & McColl-Kennedy, J. R. (2019). The central role of knowledge integration capability in service innovation-based competitive strategy. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 76, 144-156.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmaeman.2018.07.004

- Sauerwald, S., Lin, Z., & Peng, M. W. (2016). Board social capital and excess CEO returns. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*(3), 498-520. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2339
- Scott, R., & Pressman, S. (2017). House arrest: the effects of underwater and low-equity mortgages on small business failure and mobility. *Review of Social Economy*, 75 (2), 231-245. https://doi.org/1080/00346764.2016.1226511
- Seabrooke, L., & Hasselbalch, J. (2018). Professional strategies and enterprise in transnational projects. Routledge.
- Shaw, B., & Luiz, J. M. (2017). The impact of distance (External) and organizational factors (internal) on the knowledge chain of multinational corporations: South Africa as a host country. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 60(3), 295-311. https://doi.org/10.1002/tie.21892
- Shrader, R. (2007). Leadership without borders: Success strategies from world-class leaders. John Wiley & Sons (Asia) Pte Ltd.
- Shrestha, L. S., Alsadoon, A., Prasad, P. W. C., Venkata, H. S., & Elchouemi, A. (2019).

 Rise of Social Media Marketing: A Perspective on Health Insurance. 2019 5th

 International Conference on Advanced Computing & Communication Systems

 (ICACCS), Advanced Computing & Communication Systems (ICACCS), 2019 5th

 International Conference On, 905–909.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ICACCS.2019.8728510

Siddaway, A. P., Wood, A. M., & Hedges, L. V. (2019). How to do a systematic review:

A best practice guide for conducting and reporting narrative reviews, meta-

- analyses, and meta-syntheses. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(1), 747-770. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-102803
- Sil, A., & Das, N. K. (2017). Informed consent process: Foundation of the researcher-participant bond. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 62(4), 380-386. https://doi.org/10.4103%2Fijd.IJD_272_17
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619-634.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Singh, S., & Srivastava, S. (2019). Engaging consumers in multichannel online retail environment: a moderation study of platform type on interaction. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-09-2017-0098
- Sliwinski, M. J., Mogle, J. A., Hyun, J., Munoz, E., Smyth, J. M., & Lipton, R. B. (2018).

 Reliability and validity of ambulatory cognitive assessments. *Assessment*, 25(1),

 14-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191116643164
- Smit, M. (2017). Perspectives on philosophy of management and business ethics.

 Springer.
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research:

 problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101-121.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.1317357
- Sokol, M.D. (2020). Mindful of design of the sole-practitioner consultancy. Consulting

- Psychology Journal: Practice and Research, 72(1), 27-39. https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000153
- Song, Y. (2015). From offline social networks to online social networks: Change in entrepreneurship. *Information Economic*, *19*(2), 120-133. https://doi.org/10.12948/issn14531305/19.2.2015.12
- Srinivasan, R. (2014). The management consulting industry: Growth of consulting services in India: Panel discussion. *IIMB Management Review*, 26(4), 257-270. https://www.journals.elsevier.com/iimb-management-review
- Sun, S. L., Xiao, J., Zhang, Y., & Zhao, X. (2018). Building business models through simple rules. *Multinational Business Review*, 26(4), 361-378. https://doi.org/10.1108/mbr-08-2017-0053
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-232. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Tabares, A., Alvarez, C., & Urbano, D. (2015). Born globals from the resource-based theory: A case study in Colombia. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 10(2), 155-165. https://doi.org/10.4067/s0718-27242015000200011
- Tajir, G. K. A. (2018). Ethical treatment of participants in public health research. *Journal of Public Health and Emergency*, 2, 1-2. https://doi.org/10.21037/jphe.2017.12.04
- Taneja, S., Pryor, M. G., & Hayek, M. (2016). Leaping innovation barriers to small business longevity. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *37*(3), 44-51. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBS12-2014-0145

- Tasavori, M., Zaefarian, R., & Eng, T.-Y. (2018). Internal social capital and international firm performance in emerging market family firms: The mediating role of participative governance. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, 36(8), 887-910. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242618773145
- Tchamyou, V. S. (2017). The role of knowledge economy in African business. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 8(4), 1189-1228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-016-0417-1
- Teruel, M. A., Navarro, E., González, P., López-Jaquero, V., & Montero, F. (2016).

 Applying thematic analysis to define an awareness interpretation for collaborative computer games. *Information and Software Technology*, 74, 17-44.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infsof.2016.01.009
- Tian, G., Si, Y., & Fonseka, M. (2017). Impact of ownership types and political connection on private equity placement. *Nankai Business Review International*, 8 (4), 390-403. https://doi.org/10.1108/nbri-09-2016-0030
- Trainor, A. A. (2018). Community Conversation as a Method of Gathering and Analyzing Qualitative Data. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 29(1), 2-6. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044207317739403
- Tripathi, M. M., Shukla, A., & Sonker, S. K. (2017). Research data management practices in university libraries. *DESIDOC Journal of Library & Information Technology*, 37(6), 417-424. https://doi.org/10.14429/djlit.37.6.11336
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2017). Summary of size standards by industry sector. https://www.sba.gov/contracting/getting-

- U.S. Small Business Administration, Office of Advocacy. (2017). *Small business profile*. https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/All_States_0.pdf
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100-110. https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- van Stel, A., Millán, A., Millán, J. M., & Román, C. (2017). The relationship between start-up motive and earnings over the course of the entrepreneur's business tenure.

 Journal of Evolutionary Economics, 28(1), 101-123.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00191-017-0499-3
- Vukotic, S., Anicic, J., & Vukotic, R. (2017). The importance of consulting in contemporary business management. *Journal of Process Management*. *New Technologies*, 5(3), 69-78. https://doi.org/10.5937/jouproman5-14307
- Wadhwa, A., Phelps, C., & Kotha, S. (2016). Corporate venture capital portfolios and firm innovation. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 31(1), 95-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2015.04.006
- Wandiga, E.N., Kilika, J.M., & James, R. (2019). The effect of operations strategy on performance of consultancy firms? An empirical survey of management consultancy firms in Nairobi, Kenya. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 2(2), 469-488. https://doi.org/10.31014/aior.1992.02.02.102
- Wang, Y., & Rajagopalan, N. (2015). Alliance Capabilities. *Journal of Management*, 41 (1), 236-260. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314557157
- Weller, S.C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H.R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C.C., &

- Johnson, J.C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(6), e0198606. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198606
- Wernerfelt, B. (1984). A resource-based view of the firm. *Strategic Management Journal*, 5(2),171-180. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250050207
- Wilfahrt, M. (2018). The politics of local government performance: Elite cohesion and cross-village constraints in decentralized Senegal. *World Development*, 103, 149-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.09.010
- Wille, D., Hoffer, A., & Miller, S. M. (2017). Small-business financing after the financial crisis- lessons from the literature. *Journal of Entrepreneurship and Public Policy*, 6(3), 315-339. https://doi.org/10.1108/jepp-d-17-00005
- Williams, R., & Aaron, J. (2018). Specialization as a small business strategic approach.

 Small Business Institute Journal, 14(2), 1-15. https://sbij.org/index.php/SBIJ
- Wojan, T. R., Crown, D., & Rupasingha, A. (2018). Varieties of innovation and business survival: Does pursuit of incremental or far-ranging innovation make manufacturing establishments more resilient? *Research Policy*, 47(9), 1801-1810. https://doi.org/101016201806011
- Wolgemuth, J.R., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: A critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*, 46, (3), 131-139. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x17703946
- Wood, L. (2017). The ethical implications of community-based research: A Call to rethink current review board requirements. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748276

- Wynn, M., & Jones, P. (2018). Context and entrepreneurship in knowledge transfer partnerships with small business enterprises. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation*, 20(1), 8-20.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1465750318771319
- Yang, S.-Y., & Tsai, K.-H. (2019). Lifting the veil on the link between absorptive capacity and innovation: The roles of cross-functional integration and customer orientation. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 82, 117–130.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.02.006
- Yeh, W.-C., Tseng, M.-H., & Lee, C.-C. (2018). The relationship between transaction costs, resource dependency, social networks, partnerships, and organizational performance in the industrial waste management industry. *Journal of Statistics and Management Systems*, 21(3), 417-454.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09720510.2018.1427030
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Young, J. C., Rose, D. C., Mumby, H. S., Benitez-Capistros, F., Derrick, C. J., Finch, T., Garcia, C., Home, C., Marwaha, E., Morgans, C., Parkinson, S., & Mukherjee, N. (2018). A methodological guide to using and reporting on interviews in conservation science research. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(1), 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12828
- Yu, G., & Wang, B. (2016). The impact of information disclosure quality on the cost of equity financing—based on time series perspective. *Journal of Financial Risk*

- Management, 5(3), 107–112. https://doi.org/10.4236/jfrm.2016.53012
- Zahra, S. A., & Wright, M. (2015). Understanding the social role of entrepreneurship.

 Journal of Management Studies, 53(4), 610-629.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12149
- Zhang, Y., Wei, Y., & Zhou, G. (2018). Promoting firms' energy-saving behavior: The role of institutional pressures, top management support and financial slack.
 Energy Policy, 115, 230-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.01.003
- Zhou, Y., Fan, X., & Son, J. (2019). How and when matter: Exploring the interaction effects of high-performance work systems, employee participation, and human capital on organizational innovation. *Human Resource Management*, 58(3), 253-268. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21950
- Zhu, Y. Q. (2017). Why and how knowledge sharing matters for R&D engineers. *R&D Management*, 47(2), 212-222. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/14679310
- Zhu, Y.-Q., Chiu, H., & Infante Holguin-Veras, E. J. (2018). It is more blessed to give than to receive: examining the impact of knowledge sharing on sharers and recipients. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(1), 76-91. https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-06-2016-0218
- Zineldin, M., & Ismail, E. J. K. (2017). The impact of resource-based practices on strategic alliance motivations in engineering and construction sector.

 International Journal of Strategic Business Alliances, 5(3/4), 234-244

 https://doi.org/10.1504/ijsba.2016.083328

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Interview Protocol Guidelines

- Each interview will be approximately 45-60 minutes.
- Introduces myself as interviewer
- Provide participants copy of e-signed consent form.
- The participant will be informed that they are able to withdraw from the study at any time per Walden University guidelines.
- Explain that the data obtained will be used for research purposes only.
- I will explain the interview process.
- Request permission to start the audio recording device.
- Explain that all participant responses will be transcribed, recorded, and filed.
- Coding of all identifying information will take place to ensure confidentiality and discretion.
- Will follow up with probing questions.
- Request for organizational (financial) documentation.
- Discuss member checking (question/response discussion)
- After the conclusion of the interview, there will be a follow-up meeting remotely with participant scheduled to ensure data interpretations accuracy.
- The participant will be informed a second time that they are able to withdraw from the study at any time per Walden University guidelines.

Thank participants for their cooperation in participating in this DBA doctoral case study.

Appendix B: Letter of Invitation

Date:
Dear Consulting Company Business Owners,
My name is Charles C. Johnson, III, a student at Walden University. I am researching to explore innovative strategies that African American consulting company owners use for business longevity beyond 5 years. I reviewed your LinkedIn profile. You meet study eligibility criteria. If you are interested in participating, please review the attached consent form and reply to this email with the words "I consent."
After receiving your consent to participate, I will invite you to a telephone preinterview to go over the research guidelines and answer any questions you may have. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.
My contact information phone is and e-mail
Thank you for your time and consideration.
Sincerely,
Charles C. Johnson, III, MPA DBA Candidate Walden University

Appendix C: Certificate of Completion, National Institutes of Health

